Lost in Translation: An Intercultural Examination of Canadian Post-Secondary Marketing Efforts Towards International Students

By

Saba Al Hammouri

Submitted to the Faculty of Arts

University of Alberta

In partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Master of Arts in Communications and Technology

August 2, 2022

Dedication

To my biggest supporters and cheerleaders, Mama and Baba, this is dedicated to you. Thank you for instilling in me the importance of education and always pushing me to be a student of life. To Jana and Shukri, I hope this emboldens you to dream big and pursue the impossible. Thank you for all your love and support over the years.

Acknowledgements

Thank you to Dr. Barker for his guidance, support and wisdom throughout my time in the MACT program. Your expertise and feedback made this otherwise daunting task achievable.

I want to acknowledge the 2020 MACT Cohort, with whom I share the most unique experience of beginning a Master's program in the midst of a pandemic. Thank you for a wonderful two years filled with virtual laughs, supportive pep talks, and fantastic camaraderie.

I would be amiss if I didn't thank four remarkable women for their unwavering support and friendship during this program. Annie, Angela, Courtney and Tess, I never imagined I would form such a meaningful connection in a virtual environment, and yet you have been pillars for me to lean on as I have navigated through this program. I couldn't imagine this program without you.

And finally, Batoul, Aminah, Shrefee and Fatmeh, it goes without saying that these past two years would have been unimaginable without your continued encouragement, friendship, and love. Thank you for always supporting my dreams and being there to cheer me on whenever things got tough. This is for you too.

Table of Contents

Dedication	1
Acknowledgements	1
Table of Contents	2
List of Tables	5
List of Figures	5
Abstract	6
Chapter 1: Introduction	7
Importance of Internationalization for Canadian Post-Secondary Institutions	8
Chapter 2: Literature Review	10
Methodology	10
Literature Review Findings	12
Current Recruitment Efforts at Post-Secondary Institutions	12
Culture and Communications	14
Cultural Variations	15
Hofstede's Dimensions & Semiotics	21
Limitations of Existing Literature	24
Summary	25
Chapter 3: Methodology	27
Research Problem & Questions	27
Research Design	28
Theoretical Framework: Hofstede's Cultural Dimensions	29
Data Gathering and Sampling	31
Data Analysis	34
Reliability and Validity	37
Ethics	37
Challenges and Limitations	37
Summary	38
Chapter 4: Findings and Discussion	39
Findings	39
Overall Rankings	61
Discussion	64
Limitations of Study	65
Summary	66

Chapter 5: Conclusions	67
Areas of Future Study	67
Summary	68
Recommendations	68
References	70
Appendices	78
Appendix A: Heuristic Tool	78
Appendix B: University of Toronto Domestic Viewbook Coding Sheet	80
Appendix C: University of Toronto International Viewbook Coding Sheet	81
Appendix D: McGill University Domestic Viewbook Coding Sheet	83
Appendix E: McGill University International Viewbook Coding Sheet	85
Appendix F: University of British Columbia Viewbook Coding Sheet	86
Appendix G: Université de Montréal Domestic Viewbook Coding Sheet	88
Appendix H: Université de Montréal International Viewbook Coding Sheet	90
Appendix I: University of Alberta Domestic Viewbook Coding Sheet	91
Appendix J: University of Alberta International Viewbook Coding Sheet	93
Appendix K: Overall University Rankings	95

List of Tables

Table 3.1 Signifiers of Hofstede's Cultural Dimensions	31
Table 3.2 Rankings of Canadian Post-Secondaries (QS World University Rankings, 2021)	33
Table 3.3 Institutions and their respective viewbooks	34
Table 3. 4 Numeric Value Assignments for the Binaries of Cultural Dimensions	36
Table 4.5 Individualism-collectivism rankings across universities	44
Table 4.6 Power distance rankings across universities	51
Table 4.7 Uncertainty avoidance rankings across universities	55
Table 4.8 Masculinity-femininity rankings across universities	58
Table 4.9 Pragmatic rankings across universities	63
Table 4.10 Overall rankings across universities	64

List of Figures

Figure 4.1 Examples of individual vs. group image modifications	40
Figure 4.2 Examples of age uniformity vs. age diversity	41
Figure 4.3 Examples of individualistic copy vs. collectivist copy	42
Figure 4.4 Examples of individualistic copy vs. collectivist copy	43
Figure 4.5 Examples of authoritative figures vs. ordinary figures	46
Figure 4.6 Examples of smiling vs. serious individuals	46
Figure 4.7 Examples of formal vs. casual settings	47
Figure 4.8 Examples of large architecture vs. nature	48
Figure 4.9 Example of a message from the president of the University of Alberta	49
Figure 4.10 Example of award mentions	50
Figure 4.11 Examples of abstract images	52
Figure 4.12 Examples of supportive groups vs. individuals	53
Figure 4.13 Examples of images with males vs. females	56
Figure 4.14 Examples of images with males in authority vs. females in authority	57
Figure 4.15 Examples of innovative teaching methods vs. traditional teaching methods	59
Figure 4.16 Examples of extracurricular activities vs. classroom settings	60
Figure 4.17 Examples of future-oriented text vs. present-oriented text	62
Figure 4.18 Canada-China/India Hofstede Continuum	64

Abstract

Purpose: To understand the level of intercultural literacy exhibited by Canadian post-secondary institutions in their efforts to communicate and recruit international students through the use of targeted publications, such as the viewbook. **Design:** This project uses a case study approach that examines nine viewbooks from the top five universities in Canada using a heuristic developed from existing literature surrounding intercultural communication, cultural variations, and Hofstede's cultural dimensions. **Findings:** This study found that most of the institutions examined failed to demonstrate an adequate level of intercultural literacy, as most of their publications favoured Canadian cultural elements rather than adapting to the international audiences they wish to recruit. The findings of the study also highlight that there is often little to no variation between the international and domestic versions of the viewbooks, further illustrating a lack of effort in adaptation. **Originality and Value:** This research provides a tool that can be used by organizations and industries, domestically and globally, when trying to understand how to communicate effectively with individuals from various cultural backgrounds.

Keywords: intercultural communication, international recruitment, Canadian post-secondary institutions, cultural variations, Hofstede's cultural dimensions, international students

Paper Category: Capstone Project/Case study

Chapter 1: Introduction

In an increasingly globalized world, intercultural communication has become paramount to the ways individuals and organizations interact and engage with one another. Given that culture plays a significant role in our communicative behaviours and guides how individuals receive and respond to messages, organizations that wish to communicate with diverse audiences must understand the nuances and sensitivities of intercultural communications to be successful communicators (Leonard et al., 2009). While all organizations can benefit from increased intercultural communication competence, it is a crucial component of the internationalization strategies of Canadian post-secondary institutions. For post-secondary institutions, internationalization is an essential way to enrich campuses, build an understanding of other peoples and cultures, and eventually grow Canadian labour markets (Fomenko et al., 2019). One of the main methods of internationalization is the recruitment of international students. Currently, Canada hosts 530,540 international students and has aggressive targets to increase enrollments despite the fiercely competitive global recruitment market (Canadian Bureau for International Education, 2021). International students bring an array of diverse perspectives and ideas, contributing to the innovation and excellence of Canadian campuses. As fundamental actors in the Canadian education field, post-secondary institutions must maintain open communication channels and engage with international students. However, despite the emphasis on internationalization, little research has been done on leveraging intercultural communication to recruit international students. Since international students come from diverse backgrounds, they are informed by pre-existing norms and values, impacting how they receive and interpret messages. Neglecting to understand these cultural variations can undermine communication efforts, leaving a gap between institutions and international students.

Importance of Internationalization for Canadian Post-Secondary Institutions

There is a consensus that international students are becoming increasingly sought after by Canadian post-secondary institutions. Over the past decade, international student enrollment has increased by 135%, and in 2020, Canadian post-secondary institutions welcomed 530,000 international students (Canadian Bureau for International Education, 2021). While the rise in enrollment has been steady, Chen (2008) notes that post-secondary institutions have a strong desire to attract more international students to their campuses. Researchers have highlighted several reasons Canadian institutions are aggressively working on internationalization strategies. First, international students play an essential role in Canada's post-secondary landscape, enriching Canadian campuses with diverse perspectives. As Chen (2006) explains, international students provide cultural, economic and academic benefits to Canadian society and act as "ambassadors of Canadian education to the world" (p. 78).

Secondly, international students are viewed as a pathway for post-secondary institutions to develop a global presence and as an essential resource for the Canadian labour market (Davis, 1994; Fomenko et al., 2019). Finally, in addition to strengthening the excellence and innovation of post-secondary institutions, international students contribute significantly to the annual revenue of Canadian universities (Knight, 2000). For example, in the 2018-2019 fiscal year, international student tuition made up roughly 40% of all tuition fees, approximately \$4 billion (Statistics Canada, 2020). Scholars agree that internationalization will continue to be "a major theme for the next decade" (Davies, 1997, p. 83).

While post-secondary institutions push to increase enrollment, there is a struggle to foster engagement and interaction among prospective international students (Senyshyn, 2019). It is also suggested that "higher educational institutions view students as customers or the main

decision-makers as competitiveness increases in the education industry" (James-MacEachern & Yun, 2017, p. 345). As James-MacEachern & Yun (2017) highlight in their work surrounding higher education marketing, institutions must pursue differentiating recruitment and marketing strategies as they face the competitive recruitment landscape.

Therefore, this study seeks to understand how Canadian post-secondary institutions communicate with international students and to what extent they factor cultural variations in their recruitment efforts, particularly viewbook publications. To do so, I developed the following research questions, which will guide this study:

RQ 1: Does the content of internationally-focused promotional materials align with the cultural variations of their intended audience?

RQ 2: To what extent are internationally-focused promotional materials modified from domestic materials to cater to international audiences?

The following sections of this capstone will explore existing literature surrounding intercultural communications and cultural variations. This chapter will be followed by a methodologies section that will explain the case study approach utilized for this research. The findings and discussion chapter will follow with an in-depth analysis of the data and limitations of the study. This study will then conclude with a summary of results, areas of future research, areas of contribution and recommendations moving forward.

Chapter 2: Literature Review

The purpose of this literature review is to summarize existing literature on the topics of intercultural communication and post-secondary communication. This chapter examines Hofstede's (1980) cultural dimensions and their impact on the effectiveness of communications. It also examines the recruitment and marketing strategies currently used by post-secondary institutions. The goal of this literature review is to establish the need for further research into the communication efforts of post-secondary institutions with international students.

The following chapter will begin with a methodology section, which will provide an overview of the strategy behind finding and selecting the literature for this topic. The findings of the literature will then be analyzed in the following sections: studies on the communication efforts from post-secondary, studies on the effectiveness of intercultural communication with international audiences, and studies on Hofstede's cultural variations. Finally, the review will conclude with key takeaways and insights from the articles and highlight the existing gaps in the literature, justifying the need for further research in this subject area.

Methodology

My search for literature began with the University of Alberta's library catalogue. Through the advanced search mechanism of the EBSCO site, I was able to access all of the catalogues, articles, and ebooks hosted through the university's library. In addition to the general database, I also utilized the Academic Search Complete Database and Scopus in my search. To narrow my search, I broke my research question into the following terms: 'intercultural communication' and 'cultural variance,' 'intercultural communication' and 'university' or 'college' or 'higher education' or 'post-secondary,' 'intercultural communication' and 'international students,' 'recruitment,' and 'recruit' or 'recruiting' or 'recruitment' or 'enrollment' and 'Canadian post-secondary.' To optimize my results and maximize the relevance of materials, I used the Boolean method to create various combinations with my terms.

Once my initial search was completed, it was clear that limiters and parameters needed to be added to reduce the number of articles to a more manageable amount. Therefore, I used the following parameters to refine my search:

Peer-Reviewed Journals. In order to filter down the articles to the most relevant and impactful sources, I chose to only include peer-reviewed journals. This way, I could ensure that the articles had been reviewed and validated by other academics and therefore met a certain level of standards. Selecting peer-reviewed journals also allowed me to filter out materials such as magazines, newsletters, and trade publications, leaving me with just academic journals and books.

Publication Date. For search strings that focused on recruitment strategies from post-secondary universities, I chose to add a date parameter to narrow down the results. I made this decision because I wanted to focus on how universities have recruited international students in recent years, especially with the changes in the digital space. For these searches, I set the limiter to articles published between 2000 and 2022. For articles that focused on theories, such as intercultural communication competence, I forwent having a date limiter as research in this area stretches as far back as 1970, and I did not want to miss the literature and early building blocks of these theories.

Subject Filter. The final search parameter that I included was the subject filter. Given that intercultural communications can span various subject areas, such as medicine, law, and

education, I needed to make sure the articles were relevant. Therefore, I chose to filter my search results by a subject-specific database, the Communication & Mass Media Complete database.

Grey Literature. While the amount of grey literature included in this review is limited, it is important to highlight that I utilized sites such as the Canadian Bureau for International Education and government websites for continuously changing data and statistics. Additionally, I used Hofstede's Insights, a website that provides further background on Hofstede's dimensions and offers additional data such as country comparisons. Using these sites helped supplement the academic literature.

Organizing Literature. Once all of the literature was collected, I pulled the articles into a spreadsheet, where they were sorted based on relevance and category. The papers were sorted into the following categories: cultural variance, intercultural communication, post-secondary recruitment, and international student experience. From there, I prioritized the literature based on relevance and began analyzing the content.

Literature Review Findings

The following section will discuss the current literature surrounding recruitment efforts in post-secondary institutions, will highlight the importance of culture within communication, and will explore Hofstede's cultural dimensions.

Current Recruitment Efforts at Post-Secondary Institutions

In their research, James-MacEachern & Yun (2017) highlight several marketing methods universities employ to recruit international students. These tactics include utilizing "brochures, websites, social media, prospectus, media relations, [and] alumni networks" (James-MacEachern & Yun, 2017, p. 346). Similar research by Novak (2011) shows that publicity and positive mentions in the media is also an effective strategy to recruit students. Additionally, Rosyidah et

al. (2020) note that social media has become an invaluable channel for universities to connect with prospective students and foster Alumni communities, which are often a source of information and influence. Finally, in another study focused specifically on recruitment within the Asian market, researchers found that students strongly preferred web and print recruitment materials (Gray et al., 2003).

While there is an extensive list of recruitment tactics available to choose from, studies suggest that it is essential to know which tools work best within different markets and segments (James-MacEachern & Yun, 2017). For instance, researchers have found that a "lack of market orientation and customer focus" has led to gaps between the information institutions provide and the information students seek (Mortimer, 1997, p. 225). This sentiment is echoed in the research of Hemsley-Brown (2006), who found that there was a "substantial information gap between choice factors identified by students in surveys and the information that had been provided by universities in their print communications" (p. 325). Given that the characteristics of marketing and information provided by institutions rank second among the factors influencing student choices, institutions must understand how to align their efforts with the needs of their target audiences (Chen, 2008).

As Fomenko et al. (2019) show in their research, academic institutions recruiting international students must be prepared to engage with diverse populations. Research by Xiao (2021) found that language barriers and cultural identities play a significant role in international students' reactions to marketing efforts. Therefore, James-MacEachern & Yun (2017) explain that in order for institutions to successfully recruit international students, they "must be prepared to differentiate their range of recruitment strategies according to potential international students' national and cultural background" (p. 357). Likewise, Gray et al. (2003) found that prospective

students have "different media preferences which might be related to differences in cultural values, levels of Westernisation and communications infrastructure in their home countries" (p. 111). The research highlights the need for institutions to adopt intercultural communication in their recruitment efforts. Fomenko et al. (2019) argue that intercultural communication is the pathway to having meaningful interactions with international students. The following sections further discuss the role of culture within communication and highlight how cultural variants play a role in communication and medium preferences.

Culture and Communications

The role of culture in communications has been a topic of interest for researchers for several years. The literature surrounding this subject area suggests strong ties between culture and communications. As defined by Hofstede (1980), "culture consists of a set of beliefs, values, attitudes, and patterns of behaviour shared by members of a social unit" (p. 3). It informs how we behave and plays a significant role in communication (Gudykunst et al., 1996). According to Leonard et al. (2009), culture impacts how people communicate, what they communicate, and with whom they communicate. Culture determines how individuals encode and find meaning in messages and affects our perceptions at both an individual and societal level (Leonard et al., 2009; Kastanakis & Voyer, 2014). It also impacts how we respond to different modes and styles of communication (Kastanakis & Voyer, 2014). Samovar et al. (1984, as cited in Leonard et al., 2009) suggest that culture is the foundation of our communicative behaviours and that when cultures vary, so do communication practices.

Additionally, culture influences our perceptions of media and its effectiveness (Leonard et al., 2009). Perception influences the "identification, organization, and interpretation of sensory stimuli" and plays a vital role in how individuals see the world around them (Alder et al., 2013;

DeVito, 2015, as cited in Hinner, 2020, p. 45). Culture and perceptions are fundamentally interrelated because the cultural context an individual grows up in influences their understanding of specific contexts (Brekhus, 2015; Cole & Scribner, 1974; Fisher, 1997; Nisbett & Maiyamoto, 2005, as cited in Hinner, 2020). Culture also impacts framing, as it teaches us what is relevant or irrelevant (Hinner, 2020). According to Hinner (2020), framing is an essential aspect of perception and communication because people use frames to filter the information they believe is more relevant than others. Hinner (2020) also explains that framing plays a vital role in intercultural communication because it can help individuals understand and respond to specific situations.

Cultural Variations

When it comes to how culture impacts communications, it is important to consider variations of culture. A study conducted by Hofstede (1980) yielded four dimensions of culture that are now widely used as the basis for understanding variability amongst individuals from different countries. Hofstede's (1980) original dimensions of culture included individualism-collectivism, power distance, uncertainty avoidance, and masculinity-femininity. In later years, Hofstede (2011) added long-term vs. short-term orientation and indulgence vs. restraint to the dimensions of culture. Hall (1976) contributes to this area of research by examining how individuals from high-context (HC) and low-context (LC) cultures interpret communications differently. There is also a direct correlation between HC-LC cultures, Hofstede's dimensions, and media richness theory (Daft & Lengel, 1984, 1986). For this literature review, I will be focusing on the dimensions of individualism-collectivism, power distance and uncertainty avoidance, masculinity-femininity, and long-term vs. short-term orientation. The following section will examine each of these variations in detail.

Individualism-Collectivism Variation. The individualism-collectivism dichotomy offers insight into how individuals from different cultures communicate. According to Gudykunst et al. (1996), the tendencies developed from being socialized within an individualistic or collectivistic culture influence the values of the individual and how they perceive themselves and others around them. Research into this cultural variation suggests that individualism vs. collectivism plays a significant role in individual and group behaviours and accounts for the variance observed across cultures (Leonard et al., 2009). Hofstede (1980) developed an individualism index, ranking countries on an individualism-collectivism spectrum. Countries and regions considered to be individualistic include North America, Northern Europe, Australia, and New Zealand, whereas Latin America, Africa, the Middle East, and Asia are considered collectivist (Anderson & Lehman, 2019). Individualists are characterized by preferring to work alone, placing emphasis on personal goals, variety and pleasure, and valuing personal autonomy and self-actualization (Hofstede, 1980; Gudykunst & Ting-Toomey, 1988; Anderson & Lehman, 2019). In contrast, collectivists prioritize group goals, prefer to work with others, view themselves as interdependent, and value order and duty (Hofstede, 1980; Gudykunst & Ting-Toomey 1988).

As Gudykunst et al. (1996) explain, cultural individualism-collectivism directly impacts communication because it informs the norms and values that guide behaviour. As individuals are socialized within their respective cultures, they adopt patterns of interaction which then form the basis of their communication styles (Gudykunst et al., 1996). This notion is reaffirmed by Anderson & Lehman (2019), who suggest that although communication styles vary widely across cultures, the relationship between communication and individualism-collectivism is apparent. While there are many key differences between individualistic and collectivist cultures, the following characteristics were emphasized throughout several pieces of literature. The first is that people from individualistic cultures tend to communicate directly with less emphasis on thoughts and feelings (Singelis & Brown, 1995; Yang et al., 2021). Individualistic communication tends to be low in context, codified, and transmitted through formal channels (Triandis, 1990, 1995, 1998 as cited in Leonard et al., 2009). In a study comparing Japan and the United States, Okabe (1983) found that individualistic cultures value the verbal aspect of communications, including directness, more than collectivist cultures (Gudykunst & Ting-Toomey, 1988). Additionally, individualistic cultures emphasize clarity in conversation and view clarity as one of the hallmarks of effective communication (Kim & Wilson, 1994, as cited in Gudykunst et al., 1996). In contrast, members of collectivist cultures perceive directness as the least effective pathway for communication (Kim & Wilson, 1994, as cited in Gudykunst et al., 1996). As explained in Yang et al. (2021), individuals from collectivist cultures value relationships and, therefore, value communication methods that do not harm relationships and lead to direct conflict. Collectivists emphasize context, prefer richer and synchronous media, and value two-way communication (Rice, 1998, as cited in Leonard et al., 2009). Often with collectivistic cultures, the message is embedded within context, meaning that the receiver has to use contextual clues to fully understand the sender's intent (Leonard et al., 2009). According to Kastanakis & Voyer (2014), a key finding in their study is that overall, "interdependent/ collectivist people perceive and process more of the world than independent/individualist people" (p. 430). In studies regarding cultural dimensions, individualism and collectivism strongly influence communication effectiveness, with power distance and uncertainty avoidance playing a slightly smaller role.

Power Distance Variation. Power-distance looks at the extent to which unequal distributions of power are accepted (Hofstede, 1980, 1991, 2001 as cited in Leonard et al., 2009). In cultures with high power distance, individuals expect to be told what to do and accept hierarchy as a central principle (Hofstede, 2001 as cited in Leonard et al., 2009). As Gudykunst & Ting-Toomey (1988) highlight, differences in power within high power distance cultures are considered natural. Conversely, cultures with low power distance rely more on interdependence and are more concerned with equality among individuals (Leonard et al., 2009; Hofstede, 1980). Studies show that high power distance variations are prevalent in Asian cultures, whereas North American cultures value low power distance (Leonard et al., 2009).

In the context of communication, Leonard et al. (2009) argue that high power distance cultures are likely to use different mediums to communicate than low power distance cultures. In high power-distance cultures, communication preferences reflect the need for clear distinctions between superiors and subordinates (Leonard et al., 2009). Additionally, these cultures tend to use cues and symbols that maintain the status distance and reaffirm hierarchies in communication (Leonard et al., 2009). In contrast, those in low power distance cultures will use symbols that reduce the power distance (Leonard et al., 2009). Regarding the medium of communication, higher power distance culture has a preference for richer media as it is considered more effective for organizational communication (Leonard et al., 2009). Opposite to that, low power-distance cultures find value in lean communication mediums that present information through words without the additional context and nonverbal cues (Yang et al., 2021).

Uncertainty Avoidance Variation. This dimension of cultural variability looks at the "extent to which people feel threatened by ambiguous situations and have created beliefs and institutions that try to avoid these" (Hofstede and Bond, 1984 as cited in Gudykunst &

Ting-Toomey, 1988, p. 389). According to Triandis (1989), high uncertainty avoidance cultures avoid deviation from norms and prioritize conformity, whereas low certainty avoidance cultures challenge conformity and thrive from innovation and creativity. In addition, high uncertainty avoidance groups are risk-averse and are unwilling to accept failure or ambiguity (Hofstede, 1980). Similar to collectivist cultures, high uncertainty cultures emphasize the achievement of group goals and do not value individual ambition (Leonard et al., 2009). On the other hand, low uncertainty avoidance cultures encourage risk-taking, competition, and conflict (Mueller & Thomas, 2000, as cited in Leonard et al., 2009). Despite the connection to risk, Hofstede (2011) notes that uncertainty avoidance should not be interchanged with risk avoidance, as they are not the same concept. Low uncertainty cultures typically do not need much structure and find uncertainty motivating (Shuper & Sorrentino, 2004 as cited in Leonard et al., 2009). On the other hand, certainty-oriented individuals cannot reconcile with uncertainty and look to logic devices for sense-making (Leonard et al., 2009).

In communication, low uncertainty avoidance individuals favour lean media, whereas higher uncertainty avoidance individuals prefer rich media (Leonard et al., 2009). If a receiver is from a low uncertainty avoidance culture, they will have a higher tolerance for ambiguous messages, unlike high uncertainty avoidance individuals who find ambiguity and lack of context confusing and undesirable (Yang et al., 2021). Leonard et al. (2009) suggest that there are two ways in which individuals can deal with uncertainty, either by seeking information directly or by turning to others for direction. Additionally, research suggests that technology reduces inherent uncertainty within communication and organizational tasks (Leonard et al., 2009).

Masculinity-Femininity Variation. As defined by Hofstede (1980), masculinity-femininity looks at these two facets as societal concepts rather than individual

characteristics. According to Gudykunst & Ting-Toomey (1988), masculinity and femininity are not opposite ends of a spectrum; cultures can exhibit both to some degree. When it comes to high-masculinity cultures, "men are supposed to be assertive, tough, and focused on material success, whereas women are supposed to be more modest, tender, and concerned with the quality of life" (Hofstede, 2011, p. 120). Within these cultures, work over family is prioritized, and there is admiration for the strong (Hofstede, 2011). On the other hand, cultures with low-masculinity or high-femininity characteristics find a balance between both genders, with both men and women having opportunities to be authoritative or modest and caring (Hofstede, 2011). These cultures balance family and work and show empathy to the weak (Hofstede, 2011). When it comes to communication, masculine cultures prefer direct communication with little regard to feelings (Singelis & Brown, 1995; Yang et al., 2021). Feminine cultures place more value on relationships and thus communicate in a way that will result in less conflict and foster relationships (Yang et al., 2021).

Long-Term vs. Short-Term Orientation Variation. This dimension focuses on a "culture's orientation toward time, the future, the present or the past" (Hui-Jung Chang, 2011, p. 1108). Long-term cultures value forward-thinking and emphasize the importance of working towards a future reward. This cultural group is characterized by status, perseverance, grit, work ethic, thrift and is motivated by the avoidance of shame (Hui-Jung Chang, 2011). Conversely, short-term cultures believe that most important life events have occurred in the past or are currently taking place (Hofstede, 2011). These cultures are characterized by the need for instant gratification, reciprocation of greetings, favours and gifts. They also value tradition and personal steadiness (Hui-Jung Chang, 2011). Regarding communication, time orientation is important as long-term cultures better resonate with future-oriented communication efforts that may be less

direct. In contrast, short-term cultures prefer direct communication that is reciprocated and immediate (Hui-Jung Chang, 2011).

Hofstede's Dimensions & Semiotics

An important part of this research is the application of semiotics to the images and text of recruitment and marketing materials of post-secondary institutions. Semiotics examines communication through the structure of language, signs, and symbols (Craig & Muller, 2007). Semiotics looks at "meaning-making" by examining the relationships between the signifier and signified and how they convey messages (Craig & Muller, 2007). According to Zahedi & Bansal (2011), in regards to Hofstede's dimensions, "the signifier constitutes the observable components of an image, [the] signified is the hidden cultural dimension under investigation, and signification is the recurrent observed relationship between the signifier and the cultural dimension" (p. 155). There has been significant research around web elements and their relationship to Hofstede's dimensions. The following section will highlight the various signifiers observed across literature and their relationship to Hofstede's dimensions.

Individualism-Collectivism. Materials created for individualistic audiences tend to include images that feature individuals, focusing on youth and action (Marcus & Gould, 2000). Images tend to convey individuals smiling or may feature multiple individuals, with one person taking the focus (Zahedi & Bansal, 2011). Additionally, photos may have single objects such as statues, toys, or a tree be the prominent focus (Zahedi & Bansal, 2011). In regards to colours, soft colours such as pink or red are considered appealing to individualistic cultures. Alternatively, images targeted towards collectivist audiences tend to have pictures of groups that are diverse in age and experience (Marcus & Gould, 2000). Typically for collectivist-oriented material, groups in images are composed of a mix of genders or feature only males and no females (Zahedi & Bansal, 2011). For non-human objects, these items are presented in multiples, with no one object taking the focus (Zahedi & Bansal, 2011). Finally, when it comes to colour, the use of dark and sombre colours such as black, dark blue or gray signifies a collectivist dimension.

In addition to photographic elements that speak to individualism-collectivism, researchers highlight the following indicators of individualism and collectivism on web platforms: online discussion forums, newsletter subscriptions, and family themes (Singh & Baack, 2004; Singh & Matsuo, 2004)

Power Distance. For cultures with high power distance, images tend to showcase leaders, faculty, and people with authority (Hamid, 2017). Additionally, images that signify a high PD culture include symmetry, tall hierarchies, a focus on official seals and national emblems, photographs of leaders, monumental buildings, and monuments (Marcus and Gould, 2000; Selthofer, 2018). Zahedi & Bansal (2011) take this research further by highlighting that in high PD cultures, images will include multiple individuals with one person in focus, non-smiling faces, and men in formal attire. As for non-human elements, Zahedi & Bansal (2011) suggest that images include grandeur buildings, solid man-made structures, and full-scale buildings. In addition to photos, high PD cultures appreciate organizational hierarchy information, mention of awards, and messages from the CEO or President of an organization (Hui-Jung Chang, 2011). Conversely, images geared towards low PD cultures feature students or ordinary people, with no defined authoritative figure, an even representation of both sexes, and individuals smiling and partaking in everyday activities (Hamid, 2017; Zahedi & Bansal, 2011). Beyond human actors, low PD images can also highlight buildings with no grandeur or are not shown to full scale,

natural landscapes with no tall trees, asymmetry, and shallow hierarchies (Zahedi & Bansal, 2011)

Uncertainty Avoidance. Regarding high uncertainty avoidance (UA) cultures, researchers have found a preference for less abstract images, images that feature families and people supporting each other, and non-smiling faces (Hamid, 2017; Zahedi & Bansal, 2011). High UA cultures also prefer limited amounts of data, limited scrolling on websites, and redundancy (Selthofer, 2018). Finally, content curated for high UA audiences tends to contain more colour, video and audio cues (Hui-Jung Chang, 2011). Regarding low UA cultures, content for this group can be more abstract, feature people smiling, and have more choices. (Marcus and Gould, 2000; Zahedi & Bansal, 2011).

Masculinity-Femininity. When it comes to cultures that rank highly in masculinity, images often feature more males, males in higher-ranked positions than females, or one male in a position of authority (Callahan 2005; De Troyer et al. 2006; Hofstede, Hofstede, and Minkov 2010; Tang 2011). Photos also feature men in formal attire and do not depict smiling faces (Zahedi & Bansal, 2011). In terms of non-human elements, images that signify masculinity contain solid man-made structures, full-scale buildings, and buildings of grandeur (Zahedi & Bansal, 2011). The colours associated with this dimension tend to be black, dark blue, gray, or other sombre colours (Zahedi & Bansal, 2011). Alternatively, for low-masculinity cultures or more feminine-leaning cultures, images can depict multiple women or one woman in a position of authority. There is often an emphasis on family or relationships with portrayals of husband-wife relationships and children (Zahedi & Bansal, 2011). Individuals in these images are often shown smiling, laughing, talking or studying with one another (Selthofer, 2018). There are typically no pictures of buildings, focusing more on esthetics and natural sights (Hamid,

2017). Finally, for colours, pink, soft reds and soft colours are often connected with low masculine cultures (Zahedi & Bansal, 2011).

High Pragmatism-Low Pragmatism. Cultures with high pragmatism or long-term orientation resonate with images of traditional learning, classroom settings, and time-honoured norms. In contrast, short-term oriented cultures will resonate with images that showcase new methods of teaching, extracurricular activities, and games (Hamid, 2017). Long-term orientation cultures focus on the future, and text reflecting future-thinking sentiments, such as vision statements. On the other hand, short-term orientation cultures focus on the present and connect with text that is geared towards immediate action, such as frequently asked questions (FAQ) sections and press releases (Hui-Jung Chang, 2011).

Limitations of Existing Literature

Although various researchers have alluded to the fact that marketing toward international students needs to be informed by intercultural understanding and sensitivity (James-MacEachern & Yun, 2017; Gray et al., 2003), there is very little, if any, literature on this topic. In my search, I found an abundance of articles discussing the role that culture plays within communication and the importance of intercultural communication competence. Researchers such as Hofstede (1980), Gudykunst & Ting-Toomey, (1988), Hall (1976), Leonard et al. (2009), and Hinner (2020) contributed work that looked at cultural variations (individualism-collectivism, power distance, uncertainty avoidance), high-context and low context cultures, media richness and framing theory, respectively. However, while this work provides a general basis for intercultural communication, it has not been applied in the literature examining post-secondary recruitment efforts. In fact, it appears that rather than using intercultural communication theory as the basis

of their strategy, most institutions pursue recruitment efforts informed by marketing theory employed in the business world (Hemsley-Brown, 2006).

Additionally, in my search for relevant literature, I found a significant amount of research done around Intercultural Communication Competence (ICC) in the context of integrating international students into western classrooms. For example, Senyshyn (2019) and Watson et al. (2020) propose first-year seminar courses designed to help students gain the intercultural communication competence needed to help them transition to North American campuses. These studies offer a different perspective on ICC by focusing on helping international students to understand their host institutions' culture and communication standards rather than looking at how institutions can meet the cultural needs of these students. This area of research highlights the needs of ICC, and yet it places the onus on the students to shift their cultural understandings and neglects to understand the communicative needs of prospective international students.

The final limitation of the literature is that it fails to distinguish between different cultural groups. As Leonard et al. (2009) argue, "cultures are not monolithic and, within each societal culture, people vary" (p. 858). International students hail from various regions of the world, and even within those regions, there are massive variations in culture. Therefore, there needs to be literature that not only examines how recruitment efforts should be adjusted for international students; there also needs to be research done into the communicative needs of international students from different cultural backgrounds.

Summary

Overall, this literature review presents apparent gaps in the subject area of international recruitment and positions me in a favourable position to pursue further research in this area. The existing literature points to the importance of intercultural communications as a basis for

effective outreach efforts, which I plan to leverage for this study. Specifically, Hofstede's (1980) framework will provide insights into the cultural dimensions, from which I will develop a heuristic that I can use to analyze recruitment materials from various post-secondary institutions in Canada. A content analysis, using these ideas, can yield answers to the following questions:

RQ 1: Does the content of internationally-focused promotional materials align with the cultural variations of their intended audience?

RQ 2: To what extent are internationally-focused promotional materials modified from domestic materials to cater to international audiences?

The desired impact of this research is to facilitate better communication between post-secondary institutions and international students. By studying how culture impacts the perception of communication, we can begin to identify gaps that currently exist in our efforts. This is important for several reasons. Firstly, gaps within communications mean that institutions are using up resources and labour on ineffective outreach, and during a restrictive budget climate, wasting resources is highly unfavourable. Secondly, international students are an important demographic, not only to post-secondary institutions but also to the country as a whole, as they contribute significantly to innovation, the workforce, and the overall gross domestic product. In identifying these gaps, institutions can tailor their communications to provide more equitable opportunities for engagement and foster strong relationships with prospective international students.

The following section will further discuss the methodologies involved in this study.

Chapter 3: Methodology

The following section discusses the methodologies used for this research project, which seeks to understand the intercultural literacy levels of post-secondary institutions. The chapter will begin by restating the research problem and the guiding research questions, as well as providing a justification for using a case analysis approach for this study. Next, I will provide a recap of the theoretical framework, which will serve as the starting point of my research and analysis. Following that, I will explain the data gathering and sampling methods that I used to narrow down the list of universities and respective publications I would examine. Data analysis will then be discussed, along with input on the coding process and the software I used, MAXQDA 2022. Finally, I will provide insight into how I maintained reliability and validity in this study, as well as touch on the ethics and challenges and limitations involved with research of this kind.

Research Problem & Questions

This research aims to determine the extent to which post-secondary institutions in Canada display intercultural literacy when communicating with international audiences. Using Hofstede's cultural dimensions as a guiding theoretical framework, this study employs a case analysis approach, which lends to quantitative count and qualitative content analysis. The quantitative count allows the content to be ranked based on Hofstede's dimension, while the qualitative analysis further explores themes and relationships that have emerged throughout the case study as they pertain to intercultural literacy. In order to answer the research problem posed by this study, the research will be guided by the following research questions:

RQ 1: Does the content of internationally-focused promotional materials align with the cultural variations of their intended audience?

RQ 2: To what extent are internationally-focused promotional materials modified from domestic materials to cater to international audiences?

Research Design

The following section breaks down the research design into three components: examining the case study approach, expanding on the theoretical framework and explaining the data sampling and gathering methods. This study uses a case study approach to answer the research questions. According to Range (2021), a case study approach provides an excellent opportunity for a researcher to focus and provide insight on a particular issue by analyzing the environmental and cultural context surrounding it. Moreover, as Range (2021) explains, "investigating a contemporary phenomenon within its real-life context" may lead to lessons or implications that can be applied to similar cases (p. 3). For the purposes of this research, the case being explored is the 2022 domestic and international viewbook publications of Canadian post-secondary institutions. As Range (2021) suggests, the objective of this research is to extrapolate the findings of this research beyond the viewbooks and provide insights that institutions can use on other communication efforts that require intercultural nuances. In this instance, the viewbooks offer a solid basis for exploration as they are standard documents produced across post-secondaries with the intention of recruiting both international and domestic students. As such, the viewbooks are the ideal test case to analyze through Hofstede's theoretical framework.

Using a case study also lends to a mixed methodologies research approach, which provides a more holistic understanding of how well the viewbooks perform when examined through an intercultural lens. According to Neuendorf (2002), using both quantitative and qualitative research "may be viewed as different ways of examining the same research problem" (p. 420). They suggest that the triangulation of methods "strengthens the researcher's claims for

the validity of the conclusions drawn where mutual confirmation of results can be demonstrated" (Neuendorf, 2002, p. 420). For this mixed-methods approach, a quantitative count of the coded images will determine how the viewbooks rank on Hofstede's model. In contrast, a qualitative analysis will highlight the relationships between the different dimensions and further explore the nuances between the domestic and international versions of the viewbook.

Theoretical Framework: Hofstede's Cultural Dimensions

The research design for this study builds upon existing theoretical frameworks surrounding intercultural competencies and Hofstede's cultural dimensions. As established in the previous chapter, culture plays a significant role in communication. As Leonard et al. (2009) highlighted, "culture and communication are inseparable because culture not only dictates...how the communication proceeds, it also helps to determine how people encode messages, [and] the meanings they have for messages" (p. 856). Hofstede's framework plays a vital role in intercultural communication as it is perceived to be a clear and easy instrument to determine the cultural variations that impact our understanding and reception of communication (Leonard et al., 2009).

For this study, I will be using the Hofstede dimensions of Canada, China and India as benchmarks to determine the level of intercultural literacy amongst the viewbooks. The reason for this approach is because the domestic viewbooks are generally geared towards Canadian audiences and, therefore, should correlate with the Hofstede scores for Canadian culture. Conversely, as the majority of international students attending Canadian universities are recruited from China and India, it would be fair to assume that the international viewbooks should favour the Chinese and Indian cultural dimensions, which are relatively similar on the Hofstede scale. Therefore, using Canada, India and China as points on the ends of an intercultural continuum

will allow me to see to what extent international viewbooks are adapted from their domestic counterparts and if that is even the case with certain institutions. It will also provide a benchmark as to how far institutions still need to adapt their content to truly meet the needs of an international audience with a different position on Hofstede's dimensions.

As discussed earlier, Hofstede's dimensions are composed of six elements, five of which are relevant to this study. Those dimensions include individualism-collectivism, power distance, uncertainty avoidance, masculinity-femininity, and pragmatism (Hofstede, 1980). Further semiotic research surrounding Hofstede's framework (Marcus & Gould, 2000; Zahedi & Bansal, 2011; Hamid, 2017; Selthofer, 2018) has yielded a list of signifiers attributed to each of the dimensions. The following table outlines Hofstede's dimensions with their corresponding signifiers.

Hofstede's Cultural Dimensions	Signifiers
Individualism-Collectivism	 Number of individuals in an image Number of objects in frame Representation of age Copy referencing individual vs. group
Power Distance	 Images of authority figures vs. ordinary people The demeanor of individuals (smiling vs. serious) Architecture vs nature Symbols of authority/power

Table 3.1 Signifiers of Hofstede's Cultural Dimensions

Uncertainty Avoidance	1. Abstract images	
	2. Amount of information	
	3. Representation of support vs. solitude	
	4. The demeanor of individuals (smiling vs. serious)	
Masculinity-Femininity	1. The gender of individual	
	2. The gender representation of authority	
	3. The demeanor of individuals (smiling vs. serious)	
	4. Architecture vs nature	
Pragmatism	1. Location of activities	
	2. Type of activities represented	
	3. Number of individuals	
	4. Time-orientation of text	

Combined, Hofstede's dimensions and the signifiers provided me with a solid basis to develop a heuristic to evaluate levels of intercultural literacy. The heuristic tool serves to answer the research questions and acts as a coding document for content analysis. Using the signifiers as coding elements, visual and textual aspects of the viewbooks were analyzed to determine their adeptness for intercultural literacy.

Data Gathering and Sampling

As this study established that it would be focusing on post-secondary institutions within Canada, the purpose of the data gathering and sampling process was to determine which post-secondary institutions and respective publications would be selected to further examine. The QS World University Rankings (2021), considered the "world's most popular source of comparative data about university performance," served as a selection tool to determine which post-secondary institutions would be selected for this study. Based on the QS rankings, the universities listed in Table 2 were the top five institutions in Canada and the subjects of this case study. Given that these institutions were intentionally selected, this study uses a non-random selection method (Merrigan et al., 2012).

Canadian Ranking	Global Ranking	Post-Secondary Institution
1	=25	University of Toronto
2	=31	McGill University
3	45	University of British Columbia
4	118	Université de Montréal
5	119	University of Alberta

 Table 3.2 Rankings of Canadian Post-Secondaries (QS World University Rankings, 2021)

Once the institutions were selected, the next step was to decide which publications or communication tools I would examine for this study. As referenced above, I decided to analyze the viewbook publications. Viewbooks are publications created by post-secondary institutions with the purpose of recruiting both international and domestic audiences. They highlight the institutions' culture, campus, community and academic programs.

Viewbooks serve as the ideal subject for this study for several reasons. First of all, they are standard across all Canadian post-secondary institutions, meaning that it is a consistent variable to examine. Additionally, institutions often create both a domestic and international variation of the document, meaning I could review the international version of the publications for levels of intercultural literacy and also compare the domestic and international versions to see how the latter had been adapted for a global audience. Finally, viewbooks serve as an ideal test case for this study as they are primarily visual publications, meaning that they contain more content to examine as opposed to a webpage or a recruitment email, which often lack the same level of visual media. Therefore, the latest viewbooks from each university were chosen. Table 3 lists the viewbooks that were analyzed for this study.

 Table 3.3 Institutions and their respective viewbooks

Post-Secondary Institution	Viewbooks
University of Toronto	University of Toronto Domestic Viewbook 2022-23
University of Toronto	University of Toronto International Viewbook 2022 -23
McGill University	McGill University Domestic Viewbook 2021 -22
McGill University	McGill University International Viewbook 2021 -22
University of British	University of British Columbia International & Domestic Viewbook 2021
Columbia	-22
Université de Montréal	Université de Montréal Domestic Viewbook 2021 -22
Université de Montréal	Université de Montréal International Viewbook 2021 -22
University of Alberta	University of Alberta Domestic Viewbook 2022 -23
University of Alberta	University of Alberta International Viewbook 2022 -23

Data Analysis

After collecting and categorizing the viewbooks, the content within publications was coded using the heuristic outlined in Appendix A. The heuristic aims to determine whether the viewbooks rank high or low in each cultural dimension. The coding tool breaks down Hofstede's dimensions into their corresponding signifiers, as described above in Table 1. Each signifier works within a binary. For example, for the dimension of individualism-collectivism, a signifier is the number of people in an image. This signifier is then broken down into two components, images with one individual and images with two or more individuals. The following process breaks down the analysis process for these signifiers.

- *Initial coding* identified which of Hofstede's dimensions and their corresponding signifiers were to be attributed to the images, headlines, and large text boxes within the viewbooks. The viewbooks were uploaded to MAXQDA 2022, a coding software, where the content within them received a coding based on the signifiers. An image, text or headline could receive multiple codes depending on its content. MAXQDA 2022 provides a total tally of the number of items under each code, which is then recorded in an excel sheet.
- *Assigning value to the signifiers.* Once the tallies were compiled for each signifier, the next step was to give a numeric value to each category to determine how the content ranks on Hofstede's model. Given that each signifier is a binary, representing each end of the spectrum for the dimension, the signifier is given a code dependent on which of its two components had a greater count. If a signifier's component representing the low end of the dimension outweighed the other component, it would receive a numeric value of 1. Alternatively, if the elements representing the high end of the dimension were coded more frequently, they would receive a numeric value of 2. Table 4 illustrates this process further.
- *Determining dimension rankings.* Each dimension has four to five signifiers attributed to it. After each signifier is given a value, all of the signifiers for specific dimensions are totalled. If the total is above an established value benchmark, the viewbook ranks high on that particular dimension. Alternatively, if the total is below an established value benchmark, the viewbook ranks low on that specific dimension.

Dimensions	Binaries	Numeric Value
Individualism-Collectivism	Low Individualism (High Collectivism)	1
	High Individualism (Low Collectivism)	2
Power Distance	Low Power Distance	1
	High Power Distance	2
Uncertainty Avoidance	Low Uncertainty Avoidance	1
	High Uncertainty Avoidance	2
Masculinity-Femininity	Low Masculinity (High Femininity)	1
	High Masculinity (Low Femininity)	2
Pragmatism	Low Pragmatism	1
	High Pragmatism	2

Table 3. 4 Numeric Value Assignments for the Binaries of Cultural Dimensions

Once all of the data was coded, assigned value, and ranked, further quantitative and qualitative analysis was conducted on the data. In regards to quantitative analysis, an overall count of the signifiers, codes, and content and additional statistical analysis took place to further add context to the dimensional rankings and how each institution measured up amongst the others. For the qualitative analysis, further thematics were pulled, specifically when analyzing the domestic and international viewbooks, to provide a more holistic narrative of the data.
Reliability and Validity

According to Carmines & Zeller (1979), "reliability can be defined as the extent to which a measuring procedure yields the same results on repeated trials" (as cited in Neuendorf, 2002, p.141). When it comes to content analysis, reliability is of the utmost importance to guarantee that the content is coded objectively and to ensure validity (Neuendorf, 2002). Typically, there would be multiple coders involved in the process of analyzing the content; however, for this study, I was the sole coder due to time and resource constraints. Therefore, I took additional steps to achieve an acceptable level of reliability. First of all, I followed the theoretical framework closely and let the literature guide my analysis of the content. I also kept a clear guideline of which content I would code and what the content would need to include to be coded a certain way. I also checked each document's coding twice to ensure that nothing was missed along the way.

Ethics

According to the University of Alberta Research Ethics Office, studies exempt from ethics review are those that use "publicly available information that is legally accessible to the public and protected by law or where the information is publicly accessible, and there is no reasonable expectation of privacy" ("Research Exempt," n.d., para 4). Therefore, the following research did not require ethics approval as all of the data was collected from publicly available documents and websites.

Challenges and Limitations

When undertaking this study, I found two challenges emerged. The first challenge is concerning being the sole coder for this research. Due to limited time and resources, I was only

able to analyze the top five institutions in Canada, which means that my sample size was relatively small for the type of insights I am hoping to gather. While it would have been ideal to analyze the top ten institutions, the size limitations were essential to preserve the reliability and validity of the study, as I was required to double-check each of the document's coding twice. The other challenge I encountered was that one of the institutions, the University of British Columbia, only had one viewbook to analyze, as they do not create separate viewbooks for their domestic and international audiences. This created some difficulties in the analysis, which I will discuss further in the next chapter.

Summary

This study seeks to understand the extent to which post-secondary institutions in Canada display intercultural literacy when communicating with international audiences. To answer the guiding research questions of this study, a case study approach was used to further examine the viewbook publications of the top five post-secondary institutions in Canada. Hofstede's cultural dimensions served as the theoretical framework, providing a basis for the heuristic that was developed to code the visual content of the viewbooks and the lens through which the content was analyzed. Following data collection and coding, a quantitative count and qualitative analysis were applied to the data to understand how the viewbooks ranked within Hofstede's dimensions and further understand how the themes from the viewbooks related to intercultural literacy.

The following chapter will present findings and discussion.

Chapter 4: Findings and Discussion

The following section will present the findings and discussion of the content analysis of the post-secondary viewbooks. The purpose of this study was to leverage Hofstede's cultural dimensions into a heuristic that could determine the level of intercultural literacy exhibited by Canadian post-secondary institutions. To answer the posed research problem, a content analysis, guided by the following research questions, was employed.

RQ 1: Does the content of internationally-focused promotional materials align with the cultural variations of their intended audience?

RQ 2: To what extent are internationally-focused promotional materials modified from domestic materials to cater to international audiences?

The following chapter displays the data collected from nine viewbooks from the top five Canadian universities as it relates to each of Hofstede's dimensions. Following the presentation of data, a discussion will highlight the significance of this study and provide recommendations for increased intercultural literacy amongst institutions and organizations, both in the educational sector and beyond.

Findings

Data was collected from the domestic and international viewbooks of the top five Canadian universities; however, it is important to note that the University of British Columbia only produces one variation of the viewbook to be distributed among both domestic and international prospective students. Therefore, the analysis only contains data from nine viewbooks.

Individualism-Collectivism. The first dimension that I examined was individualism-collectivism. Four signifiers pulled from existing literature (Marcus & Gould,

2000; Zahedi & Bansal, 2011; Hamid, 2017; Selthofer, 2018) were examined for this dimensionthe number of individualism in an image, the age diversity of individuals, the number of objects in focus in a picture, and the use of collective vs. individual copy.

For the number of individuals in an image, if a viewbook had more photos of one person represented than an image with two or more people, then the viewbook received coding for individualism and vice-versa. Among the nine viewbooks, only two had more pictures of individuals than groups - the University of British Columbia and the University of Alberta domestic viewbook. The remainder contained more group photos than individual photos. **Figure 4.1** *Examples of individual vs. group image modifications*



Regarding age diversity, a diverse age range indicates collectivism, whereas a focus on youth depicts individualism. All the viewbooks contained more images of young individuals than those that included diverse age groups, which is understandable considering that these publications are intended to showcase university students, who often tend to be younger. **Figure 4.2** *Examples of age uniformity vs. age diversity*



The next signifier examined was the number of objects in an image, such as books, sporting items, trophies, etc. A multitude of objects is an indicator of collectivism and singular objects, individualism. It is important to note that some viewbooks, such as the Université de Montréal's domestic and international viewbooks, did not contain images with singular or multiple items to examine. Of the remaining viewbooks, all except the University of Alberta's international viewbook included more images of singular objects than numerous objects.



Figure 4.3 Examples of individualistic copy vs. collectivist copy

Finally, I looked at the use of collective vs. individual copy, headlines and large textboxes using language such as "I, you, your" and "we, us, our." For copy that used the former set of copy, it was considered individualistic, and for copy that used the latter, it was coded as collectivistic. Of the nine viewbooks, only two contained more collectivistic than individualistic language. Those two viewbooks were the University of British Columbia's and the University of Alberta's international viewbook.

Individualistic	Collectivist
FINDING PUZPOSE	WE ARE LEADING WITH PURPOSE
University of Alberta domestic viewbook (University of Alberta, 2022)	University of Alberta international viewbook (University of Alberta, 2022)

Figure 4.4 Examples of individualistic copy vs. collectivist copy

According to Hofstede, Hofstede, and Minkov (2010), Canada scores an 80 on this dimension, meaning that it is highly individualistic, whereas China scores a 20 and India scores 48, meaning they are collectivistic. As such, I assumed that the international variations of the viewbooks should be more in line with collectivist values, while the domestic versions would demonstrate more individualistic values. However, the data tells a different story. Among the nine examined viewbooks, only three viewbooks were coded for low individualism/high collectivism - two of which were international viewbooks. The Université de Montréal scored low on individualism for both the domestic and international versions of the viewbook, and the University of Alberta's international viewbook was also considered low on the individualism dimension.

University	Ranking
University of Toronto - Domestic Viewbook	High Individualism
University of Toronto - International Viewbook	High Individualism
McGill University- Domestic Viewbook	High Individualism
McGill University- International Viewbook	High Individualism
University of British Columbia - Combined Viewbook	High Individualism
Université de Montréal - Domestic Viewbook	Low Individualism
Université de Montréal - International Viewbook	Low Individualism
University of Alberta - Domestic Viewbook	High Individualism
UAlberta of Alberta - International Viewbook	Low Individualism

 Table 4.5 Individualism-collectivism rankings across universities

Power distance. The next dimension I examined was power distance. According to existing literature, six signifiers are associated with this dimension - images of authoritative figures vs. ordinary individuals, smiling vs. stoic demeanours, individuals in formal settings vs. individuals partaking in everyday activities, images of grandiose architecture vs. images of nature, messages from authoritative figures, and mentions of awards and rankings (Marcus & Gould, 2000; Zahedi & Bansal, 2011; Hamid, 2017; Selthofer, 2018).

When looking at the first signifier, images that include authoritative figures denote a high power distance, whereas images with ordinary individuals denote a low power distance. Images that included faculty, professors, and university administration, such as the president, were considered to contain authoritative figures. Images of students were considered to have the latter. Across all of the viewbooks, there were more images of ordinary people than of authoritative figures, which was to be expected as the primary focus of the viewbooks is to depict students and less so the faculty.

High Power Distance	Low Power Distance
University of Toronto international viewbook (University of Toronto, 2022)	With the second seco

Figure 4.5 Examples of authoritative figures vs. ordinary figures

For the next signifier, I examined images to determine whether there were more images of individuals smiling or individuals expressing serious or stoic demeanours. A photo showing a smiling group was considered low power distance; if a picture showed the alternative, serious expressions, it was labelled high power distance. All nine viewbooks included more images of individuals smiling than being serious.

High Power DistanceLow Power DistanceImage: Distance DistanceImage: Distance DistanceImage: Distance Distance Distance DistanceImage: Distance DistanceImage: Distance Distance

Figure 4.6 Examples of smiling vs. serious individuals

I then looked at images of individuals in formal dress and settings versus individuals partaking in everyday activities. Pictures of the former were coded as high power distance, and the latter was considered low power distance. Images examined for this signifier included those depicting students and faculty in suits at conferences, galas, and networking events and those of individuals in casual clothing in classroom settings, outdoors, and informal areas. Again, all of the viewbooks contained more images of everyday activities than they did formal, leaning more towards low power distance.



Figure 4.7 Examples of formal vs. casual settings

The next signifier focused on the inclusion of images with large architecture and man-made buildings versus pictures of nature. Large architecture and grandiose buildings are associated with high power distance; conversely, nature is associated with low power distance. Four of the nine viewbooks contained more images of buildings and structures than nature. These include McGill University's domestic and international viewbooks and the University of Alberta's domestic and international viewbooks.



Figure 4.8 Examples of large architecture vs. nature

According to Hui-Jung Chang (2011), messages from a CEO or president indicate high power distance. Therefore, all the viewbooks were scanned for the inclusion of a message from the university president. Out of all the viewbooks, only the University of Alberta's international viewbook included a welcome message from the president.

Figure 4.9 Example of a message from the president of the University of Alberta

High Power Distance



Finally, I looked at the mention of awards or accolades received by the universities as showcasing these accomplishments is an indicator of high power distance. All of the universities mentioned awards, meaning they all were coded for high power distance.

Figure 4.10 Example of award mentions



According to Hofstede, Hofstede, and Minkov (2010), Canada is considered a low power distance culture, scoring 39 on the Hofstede scale. In contrast, China and India are more high power distance cultures, scoring 80 and 77, respectively, on the scale. Going into this analysis, I assumed domestic viewbooks would demonstrate low power distance, whereas international viewbooks would showcase higher power distance. However, that is not entirely the case. While the domestic versions do indeed lean more low power distance than their international counterparts, all viewbooks, with the expectation of one, are low power distance. This means that the international versions of the viewbook have not been accommodated to reflect this cultural dimension accurately for their target audience. The one viewbook that did not score low on power distance was the University of Alberta viewbook, which appears to have an equal balance of high and low power distance, landing an equal score between the two.

 Table 4.6 Power distance rankings across universities

University	Ranking
University of Toronto - Domestic Viewbook	Low Power Distance
University of Toronto - International Viewbook	Low Power Distance
McGill University- Domestic Viewbook	Low Power Distance
McGill University- International Viewbook	Low Power Distance
University of British Columbia - Combined Viewbook	Low Power Distance
Université de Montréal - Domestic Viewbook	Low Power Distance
Université de Montréal - International Viewbook	Low Power Distance
University of Alberta - Domestic Viewbook	Low Power Distance
UAlberta of Alberta - International Viewbook	Equal

Uncertainty Avoidance. Regarding uncertainty avoidance, four signifiers are associated with this dimension. Those signifiers include the presence of abstract photos, images showcasing individuals supporting each other versus individuals alone, pictures of smiling individuals, and the presence of links.

I first examined the publications to find if any included abstract images. Abstract images are considered to indicate a low level of uncertainty avoidance. All viewbooks contained abstract images, meaning they received coding for low uncertainty avoidance for this signifier.

Figure 4.11 Examples of abstract images



The next signifier I looked at was images that depict individuals supporting one another versus images that showed individuals alone. If a photo showed a group of individuals supporting one another, it is considered to be ranked high on uncertainty avoidance. Conversely, if an image shows an individual alone, it is categorized as low uncertainty avoidance. Three viewbooks included more pictures of individuals alone than groups supporting each other. These include the University of British Columbia and the University of Alberta's domestic and international viewbooks.

High Uncertainty Avoidance	Low Uncertainty Avoidance
S97,2 M\$	
Université de Montréal - Domestic Viewbook	Université de Montréal - Domestic Viewbook
(Université de Montréal, 2022)	(Université de Montréal, 2022)

Figure 4.12 Examples of supportive groups vs. individuals

In the power distance section, the signifier of smiling individuals was already analyzed. However, this signifier is applied to multiple dimensions, including uncertainty avoidance. In the case of this dimension, smiling individuals indicate high uncertainty avoidance, whereas the alternative means low uncertainty avoidance. As discussed earlier, all of the viewbooks included more images of individuals smiling than not, which means that this signifier is coded as high uncertainty avoidance.

The final signifier for this dimension is the presence of links. According to Hui-Jung Chang (2011), excess information, including the presence of links, indicates a low level of uncertainty avoidance. All of the analyzed viewbooks included links that redirected back to the institution's website. Therefore, all the viewbooks were deemed low on uncertainty avoidance for this signifier. Hofstede, Hofstede, and Minkov (2010) indicate that India, China and Canada all score low on the uncertainty avoidance dimension, with India having a score of 40, China placing slightly lower with a score of 30, and Canada having a score of 48. Given that all countries rank low on this dimension, my expectation for both the domestic and international variations of the viewbook was that they would also rank low on uncertainty avoidance. In this instance, the viewbooks correctly reflected my assumptions as all the documents were coded as low uncertainty avoidance.

University	Ranking
University of Toronto - Domestic Viewbook	Low Uncertainty Avoidance
University of Toronto - International Viewbook	Low Uncertainty Avoidance
McGill University- Domestic Viewbook	Low Uncertainty Avoidance
McGill University- International Viewbook	Low Uncertainty Avoidance
University of British Columbia - Combined Viewbook	Low Uncertainty Avoidance
Université de Montréal - Domestic Viewbook	Low Uncertainty Avoidance
Université de Montréal - International Viewbook	Low Uncertainty Avoidance
University of Alberta - Domestic Viewbook	Low Uncertainty Avoidance
UAlberta of Alberta - International Viewbook	Low Uncertainty Avoidance

 Table 4.7 Uncertainty avoidance rankings across universities

Masculinity-Femininity. There are four signifiers for the dimension of

masculinity-femininity. Several of these indicators have been discussed throughout this chapter as they apply to multiple dimensions. These signifiers include smiling versus non-smiling individuals and pictures of nature versus buildings. In regards to masculinity-femininity, more images of smiling individuals are an indicator of low masculinity. Therefore, all viewbooks are coded as low masculinity for this signifier. For images of nature vs. buildings, more images of man-made structures imply high masculinity. Therefore, McGill University's domestic and international viewbooks and the University of Alberta's domestic and international viewbooks score high on masculinity for this signifier.

The new signifiers for this dimension include the number of images with only males versus the photos with either only females or a combination of both sexes and the number of images of men versus women in positions of authority. For images of males versus females, all of the viewbooks contain more images that include only females or a combination of both sexes, meaning that on this signifier, they score low on masculinity.

Figure 4.13 Exampl	les of images	with males vs. femal	es
--------------------	---------------	----------------------	----

High Masculinity	Low Masculinity
Mada by Bold ideas	Hate by determination EXECUTION
McGill University international viewbook	McGill University domestic viewbook
(McGill University, 2021)	(McGill University, 2021)

Finally, for images that depict men and women in positions of power, four viewbooks showed more women in positions of authority than men. These include the University of Alberta's international and domestic viewbooks and the University of Toronto's international and domestic viewbooks. Consequently, these viewbooks scored low on masculinity for this signifier. **Figure 4.14** *Examples of images with males in authority vs. females in authority*



According to Hofstede, Hofstede, and Minkov (2010), China and India score 66 and 56, respectively, on this dimension, meaning they are more masculine-driven. Alternatively, Canada has a score of 52, meaning it is somewhat equal between masculinity and femininity, with a slight push towards the masculine side of the spectrum. Therefore, my assumption for this dimension was that all of the international viewbooks would favour masculinity, whereas the domestic viewbooks would have an equal representation of masculinity and femininity. However, that is not what is reflected in the analyzed viewbooks. All the viewbooks, except

McGill University's international and domestic viewbooks, which scored an equal ranking,

leaned more towards low masculinity.

University	Ranking
University of Toronto - Domestic Viewbook	Low Masculinity
University of Toronto - International Viewbook	Low Masculinity
McGill University- Domestic Viewbook	Equal
McGill University- International Viewbook	Equal
University of British Columbia - Combined Viewbook	Low Masculinity
Université de Montréal - Domestic Viewbook	Low Masculinity
Université de Montréal - International Viewbook	Low Masculinity
University of Alberta - Domestic Viewbook	Low Masculinity
UAlberta of Alberta - International Viewbook	Low Masculinity

Pragmatism. The final dimension to examine is pragmatism, which looks at short-term and long-term orientation. There are four signifiers associated with pragmatism - traditional learning vs. new methods of teaching, images of classroom settings vs. extracurricular activities, photos with one individual vs. multiple individuals, and future-orientated text vs. present-focused text. The first signifier looks at images that showcase traditional methods of learning, such as lectures, versus new ways of teaching, such as interactive, hands-on instruction. Pictures that show the former are considered to have a low level of pragmatism, whereas images with the latter are deemed to have a high level. Six of the viewbooks featured more images of innovative instruction than traditional teaching, meaning they are coded as having a high level of pragmatism for this signifier. These viewbooks include the University of Toronto's domestic and international viewbooks, McGill University's domestic and international viewbooks, the University of British Columbia's, and the University of Alberta's international viewbooks.

High Pragmatism	Low Pragmatism
University of Alberta international viewbook (University of Alberta, 2022)	University of British Columbia (University of British Columbia, 2021)

Figure 4.15 Examples of innovative teaching methods vs. traditional teaching methods

The next signifier looks at images that highlight a classroom setting versus images that reflect extracurricular activities. Classroom settings indicate a low level of pragmatism, whereas extracurricular activities exhibit high levels. All of the viewbooks, with the exception of the Université de Montreal's domestic and international viewbook, included more images of

extracurricular activities than images of classroom settings.

Figure 4.16 Examples of extracurricular activities vs. classroom settings



The signifier examining the number of individuals in a picture was previously discussed in this chapter in relation to the individualism-collectivism dimension. With respect to this dimension, more images of individuals than groups reflects a high level of pragmatism, whereas more images of groups demonstrates a low level. The University of British Columbia and the University of Alberta domestic viewbooks were the only two viewbooks to contain more images of individuals than groups, meaning that they were considered to have a high level of pragmatism for this signifier.

Finally, the last signifier I examined was that of future-oriented versus present-oriented copy. Future-oriented copy refers to vision statements, while present-oriented text refers to current calls to action. Except for the University of Alberta's international viewbook, all of the

viewbooks contained more instances of present-oriented text. Therefore, they all ranked as low pragmatic for this signifier.



Figure 4.17 *Examples of future-oriented text vs. present-oriented text*

When it comes to pragmatism, Hofstede (2010) found that China was a very pragmatic country, with a score of 87 on the dimensional scale, while India is viewed as relatively pragmatic, with a score of 51. Alternatively, Canada ranks low on this dimension, receiving a score of 36. Therefore, I had assumed that the domestic viewbooks would reflect a low level of pragmatism while the international viewbooks would depict a higher level of pragmatism. However, that was not entirely the case. Most viewbooks received an equal score on the dimension, meaning they did not rank high or low on pragmatism. Only the University of British Columbia and the University of Alberta's international viewbook ranked high on pragmatism, with only one of those publications being specifically created for an international audience. The only viewbooks considered low on this dimension were the Université de Montréal's international and domestic viewbooks, which again does not align with my assumption for this dimension.

 Table 4.9 Pragmatic rankings across universities

University	Ranking
University of Toronto - Domestic Viewbook	Equal
University of Toronto - International Viewbook	Equal
McGill University- Domestic Viewbook	Equal
McGill University- International Viewbook	Equal
University of British Columbia - Combined Viewbook	High Pragmatism
Université de Montréal - Domestic Viewbook	Low Pragmatism
Université de Montréal - International Viewbook	Low Pragmatism
University of Alberta - Domestic Viewbook	Equal
UAlberta of Alberta - International Viewbook	High Pragmatism

Overall Rankings

Tallying all of the rankings across dimensions for each institution, I was able to determine where the domestic and international viewbooks aligned regarding Canadian and Chinese and Indian culture. Viewbooks that had three or more dimensions that aligned with the Chinese or Indian dimensions were determined to be slightly internationally-focused to completely internationally-focused, whereas institutions that had less than three corresponding dimensions were considered Canada-centric and not culturally adept. Table 10 highlights how the universities ranked, and figure 18 visually represents where universities lie on the continuum of Canadian and Chinese and Indian culture. As shown below, the majority of institutions are Canadian or slightly Canadian-focused, with only the University of Alberta's international viewbook leaning somewhat towards an international focus.

Table 4.10 Overall rankings across universities

University	Cultural Focus
University of Toronto - Domestic Viewbook	Canada Focused
University of Toronto - International Viewbook	Canada Focused
McGill University- Domestic Viewbook	Very Canadian Focused
McGill University- International Viewbook	Very Canadian Focused
University of British Columbia - Combined Viewbook	Canada Focused
Université de Montréal - Domestic Viewbook	Slightly Internationally Focused
Université de Montréal - International Viewbook	Slightly Internationally Focused
University of Alberta - Domestic Viewbook	Canada Focused
UAlberta of Alberta - International Viewbook	Slightly Internationally Focused

Figure 4.18 Canada-China/India Hofstede Continuum



This data also highlights the lack of adaptation between the domestic and international versions of certain viewbooks. An emerging theme throughout my analysis was that several

institutions had identical domestic and international viewbooks, with the exception of one or two image changes. For example, the Université de Montréal had completely identical images and copy, the only difference being that the domestic version was written in French. McGill University's domestic and international viewbooks only differed in that the domestic version contained a cover photo of a female student, while the domestic version contained a male student on the cover. Similarly, the University of Toronto's domestic viewbook only differed from the international viewbook in that it had two additional photos, one of a tall building and the other of a hockey game with only men, and that it had replaced an image of smiling women to a picture of an Indigenous elder partaking in a smudging ceremony. Finally, the University of British Columbia only had one viewbook, ranked Canada-focused, demonstrating that the singular viewbook only serves Canadian audiences.

As Figure 4.18 shows, the only viewbook that was truly adapted was the University of Alberta's viewbooks, as the domestic version is shown to favour the Canadian side of the spectrum, whereas the international version was the most internationally-focused publication of all the viewbooks I examined. Furthermore, the University of Alberta's viewbook contains differentiating elements that make it clear that the publications are intended for different audiences. For example, the international version was the only one to include a message from the president, while the domestic version did not contain this element. In addition, the domestic viewbook replaced group images in favour of more individual pictures and student highlights. These are just a few examples of how the international viewbook was adapted from its domestic counterpart.

Discussion

Using Hofstede's cultural dimensions as a theoretical framework, this study set out to answer two research questions:

RQ 1: Does the content of internationally-focused promotional materials align with the cultural variations of their intended audience?

RQ 2: To what extent are internationally-focused promotional materials modified from domestic materials to cater to international audiences?

To answer the first research question, I delved into an in-depth analysis of the content of nine viewbooks from the top five universities in Canada, using a heuristic tool based on existing literature surrounding Hofstede's cultural dimensions. From this analysis, it was clear that the majority of international viewbooks were not tailored to their international audiences, as much of the content within these publications aligned with the Canadian cultural dimensions. Although most of the international documents fell short of being internationally focused, to address the second research question, I explored whether universities at least modified the international documents from their domestic counterparts to indicate an effort towards adaptation for international audiences. Again, it was apparent throughout my analysis that although most universities created two publications, they are producing essentially the same document for different audiences, reflecting an overall weak effort regarding intercultural adaptation and literacy within several post-secondary institutions in Canada.

I would argue that all the institutions examined for this study have a ways to go to fully adapt their communication materials for an international audience. The University of Alberta came the closest to having a fully adapted viewbook but still fell short of what would indeed be considered an interculturally adapted document.

Limitations of Study

Although this study puts forth a valiant effort to highlight the importance of intercultural literacy among post-secondary institutions, it is important to highlight some of the limitations of this study.

The first limitation is the small sample size examined for this study. As it stands, I concluded that the current effort amongst Canadian universities to adequately adapt their content for international audiences is lacking; however, this conclusion is derived from the examination of only nine viewbooks. There are 223 public and private universities and 213 public colleges and institutes in Canada (Council of Ministers of Education, n.d.); therefore, examining only the top five provides a narrow look into the actual recruiting efforts of Canadian post-secondary institutions. For a more holistic examination, it would be worthwhile to investigate a broader set of universities and colleges.

The second limitation is in the theoretical framework employed for this study. While Hofstede's cultural dimensions provided a solid foundation to build my research upon, the area of intercultural communication is vast and varying, meaning that there could be scholarship from other researchers that could counter the points I have made regarding cultural variations and adaptation. For example, authors such as Hall (1976), Gudykunst & Toomey (1988) and Chen (2008) all provide valuable insights into this area of study; however, I did not use their theories to build the heuristic from which I examined the viewbooks due to limitations in time. Therefore, future research in this area would benefit from integrating additional scholars to ensure that varying perspectives are captured and discussed.

Finally, it is important to note that there may have been coding bias involved in this study, as I was unable to recruit an additional coder to verify my coding due to resource

constraints. Although I set up checks and balances throughout the coding process, intercoder reliability may have been compromised without another coder. However, in my methodologies section, I am transparent about my coding process, and my data is available in the appendices for additional verification if required.

Summary

This study set out to explore the levels of intercultural literacy exhibited in the recruitment materials of post-secondary institutions. The findings demonstrate a gap in this area. Through a content analysis, using Hofstede's cultural dimensions as a framework for a heuristic, I've established that the majority of the universities examined do not exhibit the intercultural literacy required to adequately communicate with individuals from different cultures. Using Indian and Chinese cultural dimensions as a benchmark for international audiences and Canadian cultural dimensions for domestic audiences, I determined that most of the viewbooks, both domestic and international, favour Canadian dimensions, demonstrating a lack of adaption and intercultural literacy amongst these institutions. The majority of institutions also had identical domestic and international viewbooks, further highlighting the lack of commitment to tailor content to different audiences. However, these shortcomings need to be addressed by institutions if they wish to continue growing and diversifying their campuses.

The following section will provide an overview on future areas of research, and highlight how this research contributes overall to the area of intercultural communications.

Chapter 5: Conclusions

The previous analysis has shown that of the five universities examined, only one demonstrated some level of intercultural literacy. The University of Alberta's international viewbook was most closely aligned with Indian and Chinese culture, whereas the domestic viewbook aligned more closely with Canadian culture. The remaining universities were either closely aligned with Canadian culture or did not have any significant differentiation between their domestic and international viewbooks. These findings indicate that universities may be wasting resources and marketing efforts by duplicating their publications and are likely not meeting their target audience's expectations.

Areas of Future Study

This study provides the first steps in this research area by identifying a gap among Canadian post-secondary institutions trying to recruit international students. However, additional contributions could still be made to provide a holistic understanding of this area of study. Primarily, while this study leans on existing literature to highlight the importance of intercultural communication and adaptation for international students, future studies can include first-hand testimonials from students recounting their experience with these publications. I believe that there is great value in hearing from prospective and current students to see if an adapted publication would indeed impact their reception of the marketing materials or if there is little impact in diversifying the content for a different audience.

It would also be helpful to cross-examine the viewbooks, particularly the international versions, with different countries where we recruit international students to see if the publications are completely lacking adaptation. This research focused solely on China and India, as they are the top two countries from which Canadian universities welcome international

students; however, we have seen a rise in international students from France, South Korea, and Vietnam in recent years (Canadian Bureau for International Education, 2021), so it would be worthwhile to examine those cultures using the heuristic developed for this study.

Summary

This study aimed to leverage existing literature surrounding intercultural communications to understand the levels of intercultural literacy amongst post-secondary institutions in Canada and identify any gaps in their communication materials. Through the development of a heuristic that builds upon Hofstede's dimensions, this study uncovered how adapted recruitment publications are from a cultural standpoint. While the contribution of this study is minor, the development of the heuristic tool means that other researchers can replicate this study on other organizations and industries beyond the scope of post-secondary institutions, which this paper focused solely on. Additionally, the methodology and analysis of this study can be replicated in other post-secondary institutions globally as the race to recruit more international students becomes competitive year after year. Although this study looks at a small sample, it has very versatile applications and brings value to this field of academia.

Recommendations

After examining the nine viewbook publications, I provide the following recommendations to post-secondary institutions:

Recommendation 1: Determine the audience that you are targeting with your marketing materials and clearly understand their cultural understanding and expectations around communication efforts.

Recommendation 2: If the publication is intended for a domestic audience, the content should align with the Canadian cultural dimensions. Likewise, international publications should align with the intended audience, and viewbooks should be produced and sent to international audiences with similar Hofstede rankings for best results.

Recommendation 3: Institutions should continually check their content against heuristic tools, such as the one created for this study, to ensure that their content does not fall into cultural bias and does align with the dimensions and signifiers outlined in this study.

References

- Anderson, R., & Lehman, I. M. (2019). Culture-specific and individual affective factors in professional communication. *International Review of Pragmatics*, 11(1), 56–78. <u>https://doi.org/10.1163/18773109-201810013</u>
- Callahan, Ewa. (2005). "Cultural Similarities and Differences in the Design of University Web Sites." *Journal of Computer-Mediated Communication* 11 (1): 239–273. doi:10.1111/j.1083-6101.2006.tb00312.x.
- Canadian Bureau for International Education. (2021). *International Students in Canada*. CBIE. <u>https://cbie.ca/infographic/</u>.
- Chen, L.-H. (2006). Attracting East Asian Students to Canadian Graduate Schools. *Canadian Journal of Higher Education*, *36*(2), 77–105.
- Chen, L.-H. (2008). Internationalization or international marketing? Two frameworks for understanding international students' choice of Canadian universities. *Journal of Marketing for Higher Education*, 18(1), 1–33. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/08841240802100113</u>
- Council of Ministers of Education, Canada. (n.d.). CMEC. Retrieved July 2, 2022, from http://www.cmec.ca/en/
- Craig, R. T., & Muller, H. L. (2007). *Theorizing communication: Readings across traditions*. Los Angeles: Sage Publications.
- Daft, R. L., & Lengel, R. H. (1984). Information richness: A new approach to managerial behavior and organization design. *Research in Organizational Behavior*, 6, 191–233.

- Daft, R. L., & Lengel, R. H. (1986). Organizational information requirements, media richness, and structural design. *Management Science*, 32, 554–571.
- Davies, J. L. (1997). A European agenda for change lor higher education in the XXIst century: Comparative analysis of twenly institutional case studies. *CRE-action*, 111, 47-92.
- Davis, T. M. (Ed.). (1994). Open doors 1993-1994: Report on international educational exchange. New York: Institute of International Education.
- De Troyer, Olga, Abdalghani Mushtaha, Hélène Stengers, Martine Baetens, Frank Boers, Sven Casteleyn, and Peter Plessers. (2006). "On Cultural Differences in Local Web Interfaces." *Journal of Web Engineering* 5 (3): 246.
- Fomenko, T., Bilotserkovets, M., & Kobzhev, A. (2019). Extrapolation of Canadian Universities' Internationalization Strategies into Ukrainian Higher Agrarian Education. *Romanian Journal for Multidimensional Education / Revista Romaneasca Pentru Educatie Multidimensionala*, *11*(2), 110–125. <u>https://doi.org/10.18662/rrem/120</u>
- Gray, B.J., Fam, K.S. and Llanes, V.A. (2003), Cross cultural values and the positioning of international education brands, *Journal of Product & Brand Management*, Vol. 12 No. 2, pp. 108-19.
- Government of Canada. (2019). *Canada's International Education Strategy (2019-2024)*. GAC. <u>https://www.international.gc.ca/education/strategy-2019-2024-strategie.aspx?lang=eng</u>
- Gudykunst, W. B., Matsumoto, Y., Ting-Toomey, S., Nishida, T., Kim, K., & Heyman, S. (1996).
 The influence of cultural individualism-collectivism, self construals, and individual values on communication styles across cultures. *Human Communication Research*, 22, 510–543.

- Gudykunst, W. B., Matsumoto, Y., Ting-Toomey, S. (1988). Culture and Affective Communication. American Behavioral Scientist, 31(3), 384–400. https://doi.org/10.1177/000276488031003009
- Hall, E. T. (1976). Beyond culture. New York: Doubleday.
- Hamid, M. a. (2017). Analysis of visual presentation of cultural dimensions: Culture demonstrated by pictures on homepages of universities in Pakistan. *Journal of Marketing Communications*, 23(6), 592–613. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/13527266.2016.1147486</u>
- Hemsley-Brown, J., & Oplatka, I. (2006). Universities in a competitive global marketplace: A systematic review of the literature on higher education marketing. *The International Journal* of Public Sector Management, 19(4), 316–338.<u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1108/09513550610669176</u>
- Hinner, M. B. (2020). Communication Competence across Cultures: An Examination of the Relevant Characteristics in an Intercultural Context. *China Media Research*, 16(2), 40–53.
- Hofstede, G. (1980). *Culture's consequences: International differences in work-related values*. Beverly Hills, CA: Sage.
- Hofstede, G. (2011). Dimensionalizing Cultures: The Hofstede Model in Context. *Online Readings in Psychology and Culture*, 2(1). <u>https://doi.org/10.9707/2307-0919.1014</u>
- Hofstede, Geert, Gert Jan Hofstede, and Micheal Minkov. (2010). *Cultures and Organizations: Software of the Mind: Intercultural Cooperation and its Importance for Survival*. 3rd ed.
 London: McGraw-Hill Education.
- Hui-Jung Chang. (2011). Multinationals on the web: Cultural similarities and differences in
 English-language and Chinese-language website designs. *Journal of the American Society for Information Science & Technology*, 62(6), 1105–1117. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/asi.21515</u>
- James-MacEachern, M., & Yun, D. (2017). Exploring factors influencing international students' decision to choose a higher education institution. *The International Journal of Educational Management*, 31(3), 343–363. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1108/IJEM-11-2015-0158</u>
- Kastanakis, M. N., & Voyer, B. G. (2014). The effect of culture on perception and cognition: A conceptual framework. *Journal of Business Research*, 67(4), 425–433. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbusres.2013.03.028
- Knight, J. (2000). *Progress & promise: The AUCC report on internationalization at Canadian universities*. Ottawa, ON; AUCC.
- Leonard, K. M., van Scotter, J. R., & Pakdil, F. (2009). Culture and communication: Cultural variations and media effectiveness. *Administration and Society*, 41(7), 850–877.
- Marcus, A., and Gould, E. W. (2000) Cultural dimensions and global Web user interface design. *ACM Interactions*, 7, (4): 32–46.
- McGill University Domestic Viewbook. (2021). Retrieved from McGill University's website: <u>https://www.mcgill.ca/undergraduate-admissions/files/</u> undergraduate-admissions/viewbook 2021 canada 12-2-2021.pdf
- McGill University International Viewbook. (2021). Retrieved from McGill University's Website: https://www.mcgill.ca/undergraduate-admissions/files/ undergraduate-admissions/viewbook 2021 international final.pdf
- Merrigan, G., Huston, C. L., & Johnston, R. (2012). Communication Research Methods. Don Mills, Ontario. Oxford University Press.

Mortimer, K. (1997), Recruiting overseas undergraduate students: are their information requirements being satisfied?, *Higher Education Quarterly*, Vol. 51 No. 3, pp. 225-38.

Neuendorf, K. A. (2002). The content analysis guidebook. Sage Publications.

- Novak, D. (2011). *Promotion as instrument of marketing mix*. Paper presented in International Symposium Engineering Management And Competitiveness, Zrenjanin, Serbia.
- Okabe, R. (1983). Cultural assumptions of East and West: Japan and the United States. In W. B. Gudykunst (Ed.), *Intercultural communication theory* (pp. 21–44). Beverly Hills, CA: Sage.
- QS World University Rankings (2021) *Top Universities in Canada 2021*. Top Universities. Retrieved July 2, 2022, from<u>https://www.topuniversities.com/university-rankings-</u> articles/world-university-rankings/top-universities-canada-2021
- Range, L. M. (2021). Case study methodologies. Salem Press Encyclopedia of Health.
- Research Exempt from Review. (n.d.). Retrieved from University of Alberta Research Ethics Office website: <u>https://www.ualberta.ca/research/research-support/</u> research-ethics-office/research-ethics/r esearch-exempt-from-review.html
- Rosyidah, N., Matin, & Rosyidi, U. (2020). Internationalization in Higher Education: University's Effective Promotion Strategies in Building International Trust. *European Journal* of Educational Research, 9(1), 351–361.
- Selthofer, J. (2018). Visual Presentation and Communication of Croatian Academic Websites. Information Research: An International Electronic Journal, 23(1). <u>http://eric.ed.gov/?id=EJ1174242</u>

- Senyshyn, R. M. (2019). A First-Year Seminar Course that Supports the Transition of International Students to Higher Education and Fosters the Development of Intercultural Communication Competence. *Journal of Intercultural Communication Research*, 48(2), 150–170. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/17475759.2019.1575892</u>
- Singelis, T. M., & Brown, W. J. (1995). Culture, self, and collectivist communication: Linking culture to individual behavior. *Human Communication Research*, 21, 354–389.
- Singh, N. and Baack, D.W. (2004) Web Site Adaptation: A Cross-Cultural Comparison of US and Mexican Websites. *Journal of Computer-Mediated Communication*, 9.
- Singh, N. and Matsuo, H. (2004) Measuring Cultural Adaptation on the Web: A Content Analytic Study of US and Japanese Web Sites. *Journal of Business Research*, 57, 864-872.
- Statistics Canada. (2020). International students accounted for all of the growth in postsecondary enrolments in 2018/2019. Statistics Canada. https://www150.statcan.gc.ca/n1/daily-quotidien/201125/dq201125e-eng.htm.
- Statistics Canada. (2022). International students as a source of labour supply: A summary of recent trends. https://www150.statcan.gc.ca/n1/pub/36-28-0001/ 2022003/article/00001-eng.htm
- Tang, Tang. (2011). "Marketing Higher Education across Borders: A Cross-Cultural Analysis of University Websites in the US and China." *Chinese Journal of Communication* 4 (4): 417–429.

Triandis HC (1989) Individualism-collectivism and personality. Journal of Personality 69:

907-924.

- University of Alberta Domestic Viewbook. (2022). Retrieved from University of Alberta Publications website: https://www.ualberta.ca/admissions/media-library/ro-assets/ publications/2022/undergraduate-viewbook-2022-23.pdf
- University of Alberta International Viewbook. (2022). Retrieved from University of Alberta Publications website: https://www.ualberta.ca/admissions/media-library/ro-assets/ publications/2022/undergraduate-viewbook-2022-23.pdf
- University of Alberta British Columbia Viewbook. (2021). Retrieved from University of British Columbia website: https://you.ubc.ca/wp-content/uploads/2020/07/2021_ UBCViewbook web.pdf
- Université de Montréal Domestic Viewbook. (2022). Retrieved from Université de Montréal website: https://admission.umontreal.ca/fileadmin/fichiers/pages/ Brochures/2021-2022/Brochure_UdeM_Hors_Quebec_A4_2021-2022.pdf
- Université de Montréal International Viewbook. (2022). Retrieved from Université de Montréal Website: https://admission.umontreal.ca/fileadmin/fichiers/pages /Brochures/2021-2022/Brochure_UdeM_Hors_Quebec_2021-2022_EN.pdf
- University of Toronto Domestic Viewbook. (2022). Retrieved from University of Toronto website: https://future.utoronto.ca/wp-content/uploads/2022-23 DOM-VB-with-UAB.pdf
- University of Toronto International Viewbook. (2022). Retrieved from University of Toronto website: https://future.utoronto.ca/wp-content/uploads/2022-23_INT-VB-with-IUAB.pdf

- Watson, W. R., Watson, S. L., Fehrman, S. E., Yu, J. H., & Janakiraman, S. (2020). Examining International Students' Attitudinal Learning in a Higher Education Course on Cultural and Language Learning. *Journal of International Students*, 10(3), 664–687.
- Xiao, M. (2021). Chinese international graduate students at Canadian universities: Language barriers, cultural identities and perceived problems of engagement. *International Journal of Inclusive Education*, 0(0), 1–18. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/13603116.2021.1941318</u>
- Yang, X., Hou, J., & Arth, Z. W. (2021). Communicating in a proper way: How people from high-/low-context culture choose their media for communication. *International Communication Gazette*, 83(3), 238–259. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1748048520902617</u>
- Zahedi, F. M., & Bansal, G. (2011). Cultural Signifiers of Web Site Images. *Journal Of Management Information Systems*, 28(1), 147–200.

https://doi.org/10.2753/MIS0742-1222280106

Appendices

Appendix A: Heuristic Tool

Dimension	Artifact	Frequency	Coding
	Images with one individual		
	Images with 2+ people		2
Individualism	Images with diversity in ages		
murridualism	Images focused on youth		2
	Images with a singular object in frame		
	Images with a multiple objects in frame		2
	Copy referencing the individual (I, you, your)		
	Copy referencing the group (us, we, our, together)		2
Sum			8
Power Distance	Images of leaders, faculty, and people with authority		
	Images of students or ordinary people, no defined authoritative figure		2
	Images of non-smiling faces & serious demeanor		
	Images of smiling individuals		2
	Images of individuals (men) in formal clothing		
	Images of individuals (ordinary) partaking in normal activities		2
	Images of tall buildings, solid man-made structures, monuments		
	Images of nature, buildings with no grandeur		2
	Message from the president (y/n)		1
	Mention of awards/ ranking (y/n)		1
Sum			10

Uncertainty		
Avoidance	Abstract Images (y/n)	1
	Images of people supporting each other	
	Images of individuals alone	1
	Images of smiling individuals	
	Images of non-smiling faces & serious demeanor	1
	Presence of links (y/n)	1
Sum		4
Masculinity	Images of males	
	Images of females	1
	Images of men in authority	
	Images of women in authority	1
	Images of non-smiling faces & serious demeanor	
	Images of smiling individuals	1
	Images of tall buildings, solid man-made structures, monuments	
	Images of nature, buildings with no grandeur	1
Sum		4
Pragmatism	Images of traditional learning	
	Images that showcase new methods of teaching	1
	Images of classroom settings	
	Images of extracurricular activities, and games	1
	Images with one individual	
	Images with 2+ people	1
	Future oriented text - vision statements	
	Text geared towards the present - calls to action	1
Sum		4

Appendix B:	University	of Toronto	Domestic	Viewbook	Coding Sheet
--------------------	------------	------------	----------	----------	---------------------

Dimension	Artifact	Frequency	Coding
	Images with one individual	10	
	Images with 2+ people	43	1
	Images with focused on youth	21	
Individualism	Images with diversity in ages	6	2
	Images with a singular object in frame	5	
	Images with a multiple objects in frame	2	2
	Copy referencing the individual (I, you, your)	14	
	Copy referencing the group (us, we, our, together)	7	2
Sum			7
Power			
Distance	Images of leaders, faculty, and people with authority	4	
	Images of students or ordinary people, no defined authoritative figure	38	1
	Images of non-smiling faces & serious demeanor	15	
	Images of smiling individuals	28	1
	Images of individuals (men) in formal clothing	10	
	Images of individuals (ordinary) partaking in normal activities	38	1
	Images of tall buildings, solid man-made structures, monuments	9	
	Images of nature, buildings with no grandeur	17	1
	Message from the president (y/n)	n	1
	Mention of awards/ ranking (y/n)	У	2
Sum			7
Uncertainty Avoidance	Abstract Images (y/n)		1
AVUIUAIICE	Images of people supporting each other	у 26	I
	Images of individuals alone	10	2
			2
	Images of smiling individuals Images of non-smiling faces & serious demeanor	28	1

	Presence of links (y/n)	У	1
Sum			5
Masculinity	Images of males	9	
	Images of females/mix	40	1
	Images of men in authority	3	
	Images of women in authority	4	1
	Images of non-smiling faces & serious demeanor	15	
	Images of smiling individuals	28	1
	Images of tall buildings, solid man-made structures, monuments	9	
	Images of nature, buildings with no grandeur	17	1
Sum			4
Pragmatism	Images of traditional learning	5	
	Images that showcase new methods of teaching	11	2
	Images of classroom settings	5	
	Images of extracurricular activities, and games	35	2
	Images with one individual	10	
	Images with 2+ people	42	1
	Future oriented text - vision statements	4	
	Text geared towards the present - calls to action	9	1
Sum			6

Appendix C: University of Toronto International Viewbook Coding Sheet

Dimension	Artifact	Frequency	Coding
Individualism	Images with one individual	10	
	Images with 2+ people	42	1
	Images with focused on youth	20	
	Images with diversity in ages	5	2
	Images with a singular object in frame	5	
	Images with a multiple objects in frame	2	2

	Copy referencing the individual (I, you, your)	14	
	Copy referencing the group (us, we, our, together)	7	2
Sum			7
Power			
Distance	Images of leaders, faculty, and people with authority	3	
	Images of students or ordinary people, no defined authoritative figure	37	1
	Images of non-smiling faces & serious demeanor	13	
	Images of smiling individuals	28	1
	Images of individuals (men) in formal clothing	10	
	Images of individuals (ordinary) partaking in normal activities	36	1
	Images of tall buildings, solid man-made structures, monuments	8	
	Images of nature, buildings with no grandeur	17	1
	Message from the president (y/n)	n	1
	Mention of awards/ ranking (y/n)	У	2
Sum			7
Uncertainty Avoidance	Abstract Images (y/n)	y	1
	Images of people supporting each other	25	
	Images of individuals alone	10	2
	Images of smiling individuals	29	
	Images of non-smiling faces & serious demeanor	12	1
	Presence of links (y/n)	У	1
Sum			5
Masculinity	Images of males	8	
	Images of females/mix	40	1
	Images of men in authority	2	
	Images of women in authority	4	1
	Images of non-smiling faces & serious demeanor	12	
	Images of smiling individuals	29	1
	Images of tall buildings, solid man-made structures,	8	1

	monuments		
	Images of nature, buildings with no grandeur	17	
Sum			4
Pragmatism	Images of traditional learning	4	
	Images that showcase new methods of teaching	11	2
	Images of classroom settings	5	
	Images of extracurricular activities, and games	33	2
	Images with one individual	10	
	Images with 2+ people	42	1
	Future oriented text - vision statements	4	
	Text geared towards the present - calls to action	9	1
Sum			6

Appendix D: McGill University Domestic Viewbook Coding Sheet

Dimension	Artifact	Frequency	Coding
	Images with one individual	6	
	Images with 2+ people	13	1
Individualism	Images with focused on youth	7	
maiviaualism	Images with diversity in ages	1	2
	Images with a singular object in frame	4	
	Images with a multiple objects in frame	0	2
	Copy referencing the individual (I, you, your)	7	
	Copy referencing the group (us, we, our, together)	3	2
Sum			7
Power Distance	Images of leaders, faculty, and people with authority	0	
	Images of students or ordinary people, no defined authoritative figure	14	1
	Images of non-smiling faces & serious demeanor	3	
	Images of smiling individuals	11	1
	Images of individuals (men) in formal clothing	0	
	Images of individuals (ordinary) partaking in normal activities	13	1

	Images of tall buildings, solid man-made structures,		
	monuments	8	
	Images of nature, buildings with no grandeur	6	2
	Message from the president (y/n)	n	1
	Mention of awards/ ranking (y/n)	У	2
Sum			8
Uncertainty Avoidance	Abstract Images (y/n)	у	1
	Images of people supporting each other	8	
	Images of individuals alone	6	2
	Images of smiling individuals	11	
	Images of non-smiling faces & serious demeanor	3	1
	Presence of links (y/n)	у	1
Sum			5
Masculinity	Images of males	3	
	Images of females/mix	15	1
	Images of men in authority	1	
	Images of women in authority	0	2
	Images of non-smiling faces & serious demeanor	3	
	Images of smiling individuals	11	1
	Images of tall buildings, solid man-made structures, monuments	8	
	Images of nature, buildings with no grandeur	6	2
Sum			6
Pragmatism	Images of traditional learning	2	
	Images that showcase new methods of teaching	3	2
	Images of classroom settings	1	
	Images of extracurricular activities, and games	8	2
	Images with one individual	6	
	Images with 2+ people	12	1
	Future oriented text - vision statements	1	
	Text geared towards the present - calls to action	2	1

Sum		
	Sum	6

Appendix E: McGill University International Viewbook Coding Sheet

Dimension	Artifact	Frequency	Coding
	Images with one individual	6	
	Images with 2+ people	13	1
	Images with focused on youth	7	
Individualism	Images with diversity in ages	1	2
	Images with a singular object in frame	4	
	Images with a multiple objects in frame	0	2
	Copy referencing the individual (I, you, your)	7	
	Copy referencing the group (us, we, our, together)	3	2
Sum			7
Power Distance	Images of leaders, faculty, and people with authority	0	
	Images of students or ordinary people, no defined authoritative figure	14	1
	Images of non-smiling faces & serious demeanor	3	
	Images of smiling individuals	11	1
	Images of individuals (men) in formal clothing	0	
	Images of individuals (ordinary) partaking in normal activities	13	1
	Images of tall buildings, solid man-made structures, monuments	8	
	Images of nature, buildings with no grandeur	6	2
	Message from the president (y/n)	n	1
	Mention of awards/ ranking (y/n)	У	2
Sum			8
Uncertainty			
Avoidance	Abstract Images (y/n)	у	1
	Images of people supporting each other	8	
	Images of individuals alone	6	2

	Images of smiling individuals	11	
	Images of non-smiling faces & serious demeanor	3	1
	Presence of links (y/n)	у	1
Sum			5
Masculinity	Images of males	4	
	Images of females/mix	14	1
	Images of men in authority	1	
	Images of women in authority	0	2
	Images of non-smiling faces & serious demeanor	3	
	Images of smiling individuals	11	1
	Images of tall buildings, solid man-made structures, monuments	8	
	Images of nature, buildings with no grandeur	6	2
Sum			6
Pragmatism	Images of traditional learning	2	
	Images that showcase new methods of teaching	3	2
	Images of classroom settings	1	
	Images of extracurricular activities, and games	8	2
	Images with one individual	6	
	Images with 2+ people	12	1
	Future oriented text - vision statements	1	
	Text geared towards the present - calls to action	2	1
Sum			6

Appendix F: University of British Columbia Viewbook Coding Sheet

Dimension	Artifact	Frequency	Coding
Individualism	Images with one individual	54	
	Images with 2+ people	35	2
	Images with focused on youth	40	
	Images with diversity in ages	5	2
	Images with a singular object in frame	2	
	Images with a multiple objects in frame	1	2

	Copy referencing the individual (I, you, your)	9	
	Copy referencing the group (us, we, our, together)	10	1
Sum			7
Power			
Distance	Images of leaders, faculty, and people with authority	4	
	Images of students or ordinary people, no defined authoritative figure	64	1
	Images of non-smiling faces & serious demeanor	13	
	Images of smiling individuals	65	1
	Images of individuals (men) in formal clothing	4	
	Images of individuals (ordinary) partaking in normal activities	64	1
	Images of tall buildings, solid man-made structures, monuments	1	
	Images of nature, buildings with no grandeur	23	1
	Message from the president (y/n)	N	1
	Mention of awards/ ranking (y/n)	Y	2
Sum			7
Uncertainty Avoidance	Abstract Images (y/n)	Y	1
	Images of people supporting each other	33	
	Images of individuals alone	54	1
	Images of smiling individuals	65	
	Images of non-smiling faces & serious demeanor	13	1
	Presence of links (y/n)	Y	1
Sum			4
Masculinity	Images of males	25	
	Images of females/mix	60	1
	Images of men in authority	3	
	Images of women in authority	2	2
	Images of non-smiling faces & serious demeanor	13	
	Images of smiling individuals	65	1
	Images of tall buildings, solid man-made structures,	1	1

	monuments		
	Images of nature, buildings with no grandeur	23	
Sum			5
Pragmatism	Images of traditional learning	6	
	Images that showcase new methods of teaching	8	2
	Images of classroom settings	9	
	Images of extracurricular activities, and games	27	2
	Images with one individual	54	
	Images with 2+ people	35	2
	Future oriented text - vision statements	2	
	Text geared towards the present - calls to action	9	1
Sum			7

Appendix G: Université de Montréal Domestic Viewbook Coding Sheet

Dimension	Artifact	Frequency	Coding
	Images with one individual	1	
	Images with 2+ people	4	1
	Images with focused on youth	4	
Individualism	Images with diversity in ages	0	2
	Images with a singular object in frame	0	
	Images with a multiple objects in frame	0	0
	Copy referencing the individual (I, you, your)	7	
	Copy referencing the group (us, we, our, together)	0	2
Sum			5
Power Distance	Images of leaders, faculty, and people with authority	0	
	Images of students or ordinary people, no defined authoritative figure	5	1
	Images of non-smiling faces & serious demeanor	1	
	Images of smiling individuals	4	1
	Images of individuals (men) in formal clothing	0	
			1

	Images of individuals (ordinary) partaking in normal activities	5	
	Images of tall buildings, solid man-made structures, monuments	2	
	Images of nature, buildings with no grandeur	3	1
	Message from the president (y/n)	n	1
	Mention of awards/ ranking (y/n)	У	2
Sum			7
Uncertainty Avoidance			1
Avoluance	Abstract Images (y/n)	у	I
	Images of people supporting each other Images of individuals alone	3	2
			2
	Images of smiling individuals	4	4
	Images of non-smiling faces & serious demeanor	1	1
C	Presence of links (y/n)	У	1
Sum			5
Masculinity	Images of males	1	
	Images of females/mix	4	1
	Images of men in authority	0	
	Images of women in authority	0	0
	Images of non-smiling faces & serious demeanor	1	
	Images of smiling individuals	4	1
	Images of tall buildings, solid man-made structures, monuments	2	
	Images of nature, buildings with no grandeur	3	1
Sum			3
Pragmatism	Images of traditional learning	2	
	Images that showcase new methods of teaching	0	1
	Images of classroom settings	2	
	Images of extracurricular activities, and games	0	1
	Images with one individual	1	
	Images with 2+ people	4	1

	Text geared towards the present - calls to action	3	
Sum			4

Appendix H: Université de Montréal International Viewbook Coding Sheet

Dimension	Artifact	Frequency	Coding
	Images with one individual	1	
	Images with 2+ people	4	1
Individualis	Images with focused on youth	4	
m	Images with diversity in ages	0	2
	Images with a singular object in frame	0	
	Images with a multiple objects in frame	0	0
	Copy referencing the individual (I, you, your)	7	
	Copy referencing the group (us, we, our, together)	0	2
Sum			5
Power Distance	Images of leaders, faculty, and people with authority	0	
	Images of students or ordinary people, no defined authoritative figure	5	1
	Images of non-smiling faces & serious demeanor	1	
	Images of smiling individuals	4	1
	Images of individuals (men) in formal clothing	0	
	Images of individuals (ordinary) partaking in normal activities	5	1
	Images of tall buildings, solid man-made structures, monuments	2	
	Images of nature, buildings with no grandeur	3	1
	Message from the president (y/n)	n	1
	Mention of awards/ ranking (y/n)	У	2
Sum			7
Uncertainty Avoidance	Abstract Images (y/n)	у	1
Avoluance			

	Images of individuals alone	1	
	Images of smiling individuals	4	
	Images of non-smiling faces & serious demeanor	1	1
	Presence of links (y/n)	У	1
Sum			5
Masculinity	Images of males	1	
	Images of females/mix	4	1
	Images of men in authority	0	
	Images of women in authority	0	0
	Images of non-smiling faces & serious demeanor	1	
	Images of smiling individuals	4	1
	Images of tall buildings, solid man-made structures, monuments	2	
	Images of nature, buildings with no grandeur	3	1
Sum			3
Pragmatism	Images of traditional learning	2	
	Images that showcase new methods of teaching	0	1
	Images of classroom settings	2	
	Images of extracurricular activities, and games	0	1
	Images with one individual	1	
	Images with 2+ people	4	1
	Future oriented text - vision statements	1	
	Text geared towards the present - calls to action	3	1
Sum			4

Appendix I: University of Alberta Domestic Viewbook Coding Sheet

Dimension	Artifact	Frequency	Coding
Individualism	Images with one individual	16	
	Images with 2+ people	9	2
	Images with focused on youth	13	
			2

	Images with diversity in ages	3	
	Images with a singular object in frame	5	
	Images with a multiple objects in frame	3	2
	Copy referencing the individual (I, you, your)	17	
	Copy referencing the group (us, we, our, together)	10	2
Sum			8
Power Distance	Images of leaders, faculty, and people with authority	2	
	Images of students or ordinary people, no defined authoritative figure	18	1
	Images of non-smiling faces & serious demeanor	1	
	Images of smiling individuals	23	1
	Images of individuals (men) in formal clothing	2	
	Images of individuals (ordinary) partaking in normal activities	18	1
	Images of tall buildings, solid man-made structures, monuments	9	
	Images of nature, buildings with no grandeur	5	2
	Message from the president (y/n)	n	1
	Mention of awards/ ranking (y/n)	У	2
Sum			8
Uncertainty Avoidance	Abstract Images (y/n)	у	1
	Images of people supporting each other	9	
	Images of individuals alone	16	1
	Images of smiling individuals	23	
	Images of non-smiling faces & serious demeanor	1	1
	Presence of links (y/n)	у	1
Sum			4
Masculinity	Images of males	8	
	Images of females/mix	17	1
	Images of men in authority	0	
	Images of women in authority	2	1
	Images of non-smiling faces & serious demeanor	1	

	Images of smiling individuals	23	
	Images of tall buildings, solid man-made structures, monuments	9	
	Images of nature, buildings with no grandeur	5	2
Sum			5
Pragmatism	Images of traditional learning	2	
	Images that showcase new methods of teaching	1	1
	Images of classroom settings	2	
	Images of extracurricular activities, and games	4	2
	Images with one individual	16	
	Images with 2+ people	9	2
	Future oriented text - vision statements	3	
	Text geared towards the present - calls to action	9	1
Sum			6

Appendix J: University of Alberta International Viewbook Coding Sheet

Dimension	Artifact	Frequency	Coding
Individualism	Images with one individual	3	
	Images with 2+ people	12	1
	Images with focused on youth	5	
	Images with diversity in ages	4	2
	Images with a singular object in frame	0	
	Images with a multiple objects in frame	1	1
	Copy referencing the individual (I, you, your)	7	
	Copy referencing the group (us, we, our, together)	11	1
Sum			5
Power Distance	Images of leaders, faculty, and people with authority	3	
	Images of students or ordinary people, no defined authoritative figure	12	1
	Images of non-smiling faces & serious demeanor	3	
	Images of smiling individuals	10	1

	Images of individuals (men) in formal clothing		2	
			2	
	Images of individuals (ordinary) partaking in normal activities		12	1
	Images of tall buildings, solid man-made structures, monuments		22	
	Images of nature, buildings with no grandeur		4	2
	Message from the president (y/n)	у		2
	Mention of awards/ ranking (y/n)	у		2
Sum				9
Uncertainty Avoidance	Abstract Images (y/n)	у		1
	Images of people supporting each other		4	
	Images of individuals alone		11	1
	Images of smiling individuals		3	
	Images of non-smiling faces & serious demeanor		10	2
	Presence of links (y/n)	у		1
Sum				5
Masculinity	Images of males		3	
	Images of females/mix		12	1
	Images of men in authority		1	
	Images of women in authority		3	1
	Images of non-smiling faces & serious demeanor		3	
	Images of smiling individuals		10	1
	Images of tall buildings, solid man-made structures, monuments		22	
	Images of nature, buildings with no grandeur		4	2
Sum				5
Pragmatism	Images of traditional learning		0	
	Images that showcase new methods of teaching		4	2
	Images of classroom settings		4	
	Images of extracurricular activities, and games		5	2
	Images with one individual		3	
	Images with 2+ people		10	1

	Future oriented text - vision statements		
	Text geared towards the present - calls to action	5	2
Sum			7

Appendix K: Overall University Rankings

	Individualism- Collectivism	Power Distance	Uncertainty Avoidance	Masc-Fem	Pragmatism
University of Toronto - Domestic	7	7	5	4	6
University of Toronto - International	7	7	5	4	6
McGill - Domestic	7	8	5	6	6
McGill - International	7	8	5	6	6
UBC	7	7	4	5	7
University de Montreal - Domestic	5	7	5	3	4
University de Montreal - International	5	7	5	3	4
UAlberta - Domestic	8	8	4	5	6
UAlberta - International	5	9	5	5	7
University of Toronto - Domestic	Individualism	Low Power Distance	Low Uncertainty Avoidance	Low Masculinity	Equal
University of Toronto - International	Individualism	Low Power Distance	Low Uncertainty Avoidance	Low Masculinity	Equal
McGill - Domestic	Individualism	Low Power Distance	Low Uncertainty Avoidance	Equal	Equal
McGill - International	Individualism	Low Power Distance	Low Uncertainty Avoidance	Equal	Equal
UBC	Individualism	Low Power Distance	Low Uncertainty Avoidance	Low Masculinity	High Pragmatism

University de Montreal - Domestic	Collectivism	Low Power Distance	Low Uncertainty Avoidance	Low Masculinity	Low Pragmatism
University de Montreal - International	Collectivism	Low Power Distance	Low Uncertainty Avoidance	Low Masculinity	Low Pragmatism
UAlberta - Domestic	Individualism	Low Power Distance	Low Uncertainty Avoidance	Low Masculinity	Equal
UAlberta - International	Collectivism	Equal	Low Uncertainty Avoidance	Low Masculinity	High Pragmatism